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Introduction

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE)  
is the largest tertiary educational provider in 
Northern Victoria (Hume Region). 

In 2015 GOTAFE delivered in excess of four million 
Student Contact Hours (SCHs) across 35 industry  
sub-sectors for almost 15,000 student enrolments. 

GOTAFE employs more than 400 staff located in 15 
locations, and achieved an annual turnover in excess of 
$57 million in 2015.

The region covered by GOTAFE includes 11 local 
government authorities and services the vocational 
education and training needs of more than 220,000 
Victorians. 

GOTAFE has a rich history of providing technical, vocational 
and further education to the region. The establishment of 
GOTAFE took effect upon the amalgamation of Wangaratta 
Institute of TAFE and Goulburn Valley Institute of TAFE on 
October 1, 1996. This followed a Committee of Review of 
TAFE services in North East Victoria, headed by Dr Tom 
Kennedy. 

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is established under 
the Education and Training Reform Act 2006. Its powers 
and duties are primarily established in its Constitution, the 
Education and Training Reform Act 2006 and Financial 

Management Act 1994. The Minister responsible during 2015 
was the Minister for Training and Skills, the Honourable 
Steve Herbert, MP. 

The principal objective of GOTAFE, within the context 
of National and Victorian State Government policies and 
management frameworks, is articulated in its strategic 
purpose.

The strength of GOTAFE lies with its experienced, 
skilled and innovative staff who provide training, skills 
development and other services to students, industry 
clients and the wider community through:

 Ì Innovative, customised and quality assured training 
programs and products

 Ì Flexible education and training delivery 
methodologies; and

 Ì A commitment to consultation, partnerships and 
customer satisfaction.

Our Vision

To be a world class Institute delivering quality education 
and training beyond expectations.

Our Purpose

To deliver quality vocational training and tertiary 
education that responds to the needs of industry, 
enterprises, communities and individuals in the regions 
we serve.

Our Values

Responsiveness: Timely and accurate actions with a 
willingness to deliver flexible solutions.

Respect: To be open to each other’s perspective and to 
appreciate and accept the different points of view of 
students, staff and customers.

Integrity: At all times being honest, reliable and 
trustworthy. Ensuring that if you cannot meet your 
commitment that you communicate this and renegotiate 
an outcome.

Excellence: Achieving the highest standards in all that  
we do.

Accountability: To be responsible for your own actions, 
your role within your team and as a representative  
of GOTAFE.

Collaboration: Through external alliances and internal 
teamwork.

Creativity: The freedom to generate ideas and to apply 
them to improve our services and products.
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Chairman’s Welcome

Victorian Government policy changes over recent 
years have led to a quantum shift to demand-driven 
funding. In response to the challenges posed by such 
a shift, GOTAFE has successfully put in place change 
management strategies which have ensured that it has 
remained viable despite unexpected adverse funding 
impacts and a more openly competitive environment.

It should be noted that GOTAFE demonstrated it’s ability 
to adapt to the introduction of a contestable market in 
2011. This resulted in revenue and surplus growth, liquidity 
strength and development of very strong cash reserves.  
These early strategic responses to a contestable 
marketplace allowed GOTAFE to mitigate against the 
negative impact of multiple changes to funding rates and 
rules in previous years. 

During 2015 we welcomed Mark O’Sullivan, Dr. Christine 
Cunningham and Damian Trezise and the return 
of Rebecca Woolstencroft to our Board.  I wish to 
acknowledge the contribution and wisdom of Adam 
Furphy, Chris McPherson and Lisbeth Long who retired 
from the Board during 2015.

On behalf of the Board I congratulate Chief Executive 
Officer Paul Culpan and the Executive Management Team 
and staff for meeting the extraordinary challenges of 
2015.

Throughout 2015 the GOTAFE Board has worked 
diligently with Management, Government and business in 
meeting the ever increasing and rapid changes in funding 
settings from an aggressive non TAFE competition and 
the systems and delivery challenges facing the sector.

The partnership and alliances of GOTAFE with higher 
education providers and business and industry partners 
continues to be significant and of immense benefit to our 
region.

The GOTAFE Board and Institute acknowledges the 
counsel and support of the Honourable Steve Herbert as 
Minister for Training and Skills, Gill Callister Department 
Secretary, Craig Robertson Deputy Secretary and the 
staff of the Department of Education and Training 
Victoria and the Higher Education & Skills Group 
throughout 2015.

Michael H. Tehan
Chair of the Board 
8 February 2016
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Chief Executive Officer Report

2015 was an encouraging, yet again challenging 
year for GOTAFE as the Institute was re-registered 
as a quality training provider for seven years by 
the Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA), 
adjusted to the new Victorian Government’s policy 
and direction regarding Vocational Education and 
Training (VET) and TAFE, whilst at the same time 
managed the continuing impacts from previous 
years of funding and rule changes.

A significant achievement was that GOTAFE with the 
support of the Victorian Government, maintained its 
strong liquidity ratio (>3.0) and cash reserves whilst 
investing in critical capability to build education quality 
as well as finance, technology and business development 
systems and capacity.

In 2015 GOTAFE continued to implement its strategic plan 
with a focus on developing core capabilities to compete 
in a deregulated training market, providing value-added 
programs and services to industry and students as well 
as identifying opportunities for collaboration with other 
Regional TAFE Institutes to enhance overall Regional 
TAFE provision. 

A key feature of GOTAFE’s strategy continues to be the 
development of education pathways with Schools and 
Universities, in particular La Trobe University, Charles 
Sturt University, Federation University and the University 
of Melbourne, which in 2015 evolved to an increased 
level of integration, benefitting industry, students and 
local communities. GOTAFE also continued to build its 
reputation as a leading Victorian TAFE in providing VET 
services to Secondary Schools with over 900 students 
accessing VET in School programs via GOTAFE.

I would like to acknowledge the contribution made by 
GOTAFE’s Executive, Management and staff in 2015 
who have worked tirelessly to respond and improve the 
Institute in an environment of significant change. 

I would also like to express my appreciation for the 
support and guidance provided by Mr Michael Tehan, 
Chair of the GOTAFE Board and all Board Directors over 
the past year with regards to their excellent governance 
of the Institute as well as their initiative to ensure the 
Institute has robust plans in place to ensure sustainability 
into the future.  

Paul Culpan
CEO 
16 February 2016
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CHRISTOPHER MCPHERSON

The Board of GOTAFE demonstrates a broad range 
of backgrounds, skills and ability.

The Board endeavours to have an ongoing 
membership that covers all of the areas necessary 
to provide leadership and good governance for the 
Institute.

MICHAEL TEHAN
Chairman

Lawyer, Tehan, George & Co

Ministerial Board Chair, appointed 16 April 2013

Michael is the senior partner of Tehan, George & Co, a 
legal firm operating in Euroa and Seymour and has a 
Bachelor of Laws and is a Notary Public and qualified 
mediator. He has extensive experience in audit, regional 
development, strategic planning, community networking 
and development, tourism and hospitality and tertiary 
education and training.

MARK O’SULLIVAN LISBETH LONG ADAM FURPHY

MICHAEL TEHAN 

Board Committee

JONATHON KOOPREBECCA WOOLSTENCROFT JOANNE DWYER

DR CHRISTINE CUNNINGHAMROD SCHUBERT DAMIAN TREZISEDAVID MCKINNON

He is a former Local Government Commissioner, a former 
Chairman of Nagambie Lakes Authority, a member of the 
GVFL Tribunal and Chair of the GVFL Audit Committee. 

Michael is a past Committee Member of Benalla 
Performing Arts and Convention Centre and past Chair of 
the Strathbogie Shire Council Audit Committee. 

REBECCA WOOLSTENCROFT
Chief Executive Officer, MB+M Group

Board Nominee Director, appointed 5 March 2012 

Term expired 31 May 2015  

Reappointed 1 December 2015

Rebecca is a Chartered Accountant and has a Bachelor of 
Commerce, she has served on the GOTAFE Board since 
2012. Rebecca is a Director and Co-Owner of MB+M, a 
financial services business in Shepparton. Her expertise 
includes strategic business development plans for small 
and medium sized businesses, working with business 
owners to develop business and personal goals, and 
setting actions for goals to ensure their achievement.
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JOANNE DWYER
Deputy Chair

Chartered Accountant

Board Nominee Director, appointed 1 September 2013

Joanne is a Certified Practising Accountant and has a 
Bachelor of Commerce Degree. Joanne is an independent 
consultant with Brulant Consulting and Dwyer Securities 
Limited, and is a current member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and Certified Practising 
Accountant of the CPA Australia.

Joanne has held a number of directorships in regional 
Victoria, and her expertise lies in business project 

management and strategic planning.

JONATHAN KOOP
Primary Producer

Board Nominee Director, appointed 1 September 2013

Jonathan is a Chartered Accountant and a graduate of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors, and has a 
Bachelor of Economics Degree.

Jonathan is a Primary Producer and is a current Board 
Member of North East Water. He possesses strong 
leadership and analytical skills, and his expertise lies in 
strategic business planning and management.

DAVID MCKINNON
General Manager Human Resources and Safety,  
Bega Cheese Limited

Board Nominee Director, appointed 25 July 2014

David is an experienced Human Resources Executive 
with a demonstrated capacity to lead and deliver real 
value to the organisations top and bottom lines in both a 
domestic and international environment.

David brings to the GOTAFE Board a passion for effective 
and efficient vocational training and a commitment 
to developing opportunities for people in regional 
communities.

ROD SCHUBERT
Management Consultant Human Resources

Ministerial Nominee Director, appointed 23 October 2014 

Rod has been employed in Executive Human Resources 
for nearly 30 years in a variety of large businesses 
throughout Australia. More recently he has focused his 
HR efforts within large food manufacturers, including 
SPC Ardmona and Campbell’s Soup. Rod has a Graduate 
Diploma in Labour/Management Relations and is a Bail 
Justice of Victoria.

He has resided in Shepparton for the last 20 years and has 
held a range of Director and/or Chairman positions with 
training organisations and sporting clubs in the region. 

DR CHRISTINE CUNNINGHAM

Statistician & Researcher

Ministerial Nominee Director, appointed 1 December 2015

Dr Christine Cunningham is a statistician and researcher 
with a doctorate from the University of Melbourne and a 
Master’s Degree in Science. Christine currently works as a 
consultant researcher particularly in the areas of service 
outcomes and governance.
Christine has held a variety of clinical, policy, analysis and 
research roles. Dr Cunningham has also served on the 
Board of Northeast Health Wangaratta, a sub-regional 
public health service from 2006 – 2014 and was Chair 
from 2009 – 2014. 

DAMIAN TREZISE

CEO, McPherson Media Group

Ministerial Nominee Director, appointed 1 December 2015

Damian Trezise is the Chief Executive Officer of 
McPherson Media Group, and is responsible for the 
day-to-day operations of the group, encompassing 
commercial printing, magazines, internet services 
and newspaper and online publishing, including the 
Shepparton News.

Damian is a member of the CEO Institute and serves on 
the Boards of the Victorian Country Press Association, 
Regional Dailies Victoria and The Goulburn Valley 
Community Fund. He is also a local member of Rotary.

MARK O’SULLIVAN

CEO, Royal Agricultural Society of Victoria

Ministerial Nominee Director, appointed 1 December 2015

Mark O’Sullivan is the Chief Executive Officer of the Royal 
Agricultural Society of Victoria LTD (RASV). 

Mark joined the RASV after 24 years in various roles 
within the Victorian Thoroughbred Racing Industry, 
including 12 years as CEO of Country Racing Victoria LTD. 

Mark has a Bachelor of Business (Management) and a 
Graduate Diploma in Entrepreneurial Studies. Mark is 
currently on the Board of Spring Valley Golf Club and 
previously a director on the Board of Racing Products 
Victoria LTD and Director Super Vobis Board of 
Management.
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LISBETH LONG

General Manager, Silent Range Estate

Ministerial Nominee Director, appointed 14 July 2008 

Term expired 31 May 2015

Lisbeth is a dynamic business and community leader 
who has held senior strategic Board, ASX100 business, 
not-for-profit and community positions with diverse 
responsibilities and community impact. 

She has a Bachelor of Economics, is a recipient of the 
2014 Victorian Women’s Governance Scholarship, is a 
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, 
is also a Director of the Alpine Valleys Community 
Leadership Program and has extensive Board experience 
in education and training, governance, strategic 
planning, finance, law, organisation development, change 
management and risk management.

ADAM FURPHY 

Managing Director, J. Furphy & Sons

Ministerial Director, appointed 16 March 2009 

Term expired 28 February 2015

Adam has a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) and 
is the Managing Director of J. Furphy & Sons, which 
is a fifth generation manufacturing business based in 
Shepparton. He has experience with apprenticeships and 
industry participation in vocational education, as well as 
experience in business development and business-to-
business relationship management.

Adam is presently Chairman of the La Trobe University 
Shepparton Campus – Regional Advisory Board, 
Chairman of the Scott Peoples Foundation and a Trustee 
of the Shepparton Mechanics Institute.

CHRISTOPHER MCPHERSON
Former Managing Director, McPherson Media Group 

Ministerial Nominee Director, appointed 30 November 2009 

Resigned 31 March 2015

Chris was the Managing Director of the McPherson Media 
Group and its publishing and printing companies. Chris 
was a life member and director of Victorian Country Press 
Association, a life member of the Pacific Area Newspaper 
Publishers Association, a life member and director of 
Country Press Australia and Chairman of Country Press 
cooperative Company Limited. Chris completed the 
Company Directors course Diploma and was a Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors. In 2012 he 
completed a Bachelor of Applied Management (BAMS) 
through GOTAFE.

Sadly, Chris passed away on 22 December 2015. Chris 
was an esteemed member of the Board who contributed 
significantly during his tenure. Chris and his passion 
for vocational education and training will always be 
remembered.   

Board Values and Code of Conduct

The Board of GOTAFE provides effective corporate 
governance for the Institute within the legal framework 
provided by the various acts, orders and ministerial 
directions. The Board has adopted a vision, mission and 
values statement for the Board itself and for the Institute.

The Board operates in accordance with the Excellence 
in Governance: A Guide to Best Practice in TAFE 
Institute Boards manual published by the Victorian TAFE 
Association. 

General duties of the Board

The duties of the Board are set out in the GOTAFE 
Constitution. The Board must take all reasonable steps 
for the advancement of the objectives of the Institute and 
the Board under the Act and this Constitution; operate in 
accordance with the economic and social objectives and 
public sector management policy established from time 
to time by the Government of Victoria; meet at intervals 
prescribed in this Constitution; provide all assistance and 
information as the Minister, the Secretary or the Deputy 
Secretary may reasonably require from the Board; and 
ensure the safe custody and proper use of the common 
seal of the Institute.

Meeting Attendance

Board Member Attendance

Michael Tehan 11/11

Rebecca Woolstencroft 4/5

Joanne Dwyer 10/11

Jonathan Koop 9/11

David McKinnon 11/11

Rod Schubert 10/11

Christine Cunningham 1/1

Damian Trezise 1/1

Mark O’Sullivan 1/1

Lisbeth Long * 4/4

Adam Furphy * 1/1

Christopher McPherson * 1/2

* Resigned or retired in 2015
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Board Committees

The Executive Committee acts on behalf of the Board 
between Board meetings and also provides an oversight 
of the Institute’s industrial relations matters. 

The Board has the following committees:

 Ì Executive
 Ì Audit   
 Ì Remuneration
 Ì OH&S Oversight

Executive Committee

Michael Tehan - Chair

The Executive Committee acts on behalf of the Board 
between Board meetings and also provides an oversight 
of the Institute’s industrial relations matters. 

Audit Committee

Joanne Dwyer – Chair 

The Audit Committee oversees the role and effectiveness 
of the Institute auditors and ensures appropriate 
management responses and follow up to meet the good 
governance requirements of the Institute. 

 ෙ Business & IT

 ෙ Community Services

 ෙ Art & Design

 ෙ Sport & Recreation

 ෙ Educational Development

 ෙ Health

 ෙ Automotive &  
Engineering

 ෙ Building, Plumbing  
& Electrical

 ෙ Hospitality & Baking

 ෙ Hairdressing & Beauty

 ෙ TEC

Louise Pearce

Executive Manager
Service Industries

Albert Amadei

Executive Manager
Technology Industries

Remuneration Committee

Michael Tehan - Chair

The Remuneration Committee provides assurance to 
the Board relating to the effectiveness, integrity and 
compliance of remuneration policies and practices. 
The Remuneration Committee’s main focus is Senior 
Executive and CEO remuneration. The Committee also 
concerns itself with the overall approach to remuneration 
by the Institute. 

OH&S Oversight Committee

David McKinnon - Chair

The OHS Oversight Committee oversees the 
organisation’s OH&S performance, and monitors and 
reviews management’s progress towards the achievement 
of the Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System in accordance with Australian Standard AS 4801 
within GOTAFE.

Only Board members hold positions on these 
committees.
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Organisational Chart

As at 31 December 2015

 ෙ Marketing & Creative 
Services

 ෙ Business Development

 ෙ Project Management 
Office

 ෙ Human Resources

 ෙ OHS

Ken McLennan

Executive Manager
Strategy & Commercial 

Development

Simone Lambert

Executive Manager
People Capability  

& Culture

 ෙ Animal Sciences

 ෙ Horticulture

 ෙ NCEE

 ෙ NCDE Processing

 ෙ Agriculture

 ෙ Koorie Education

 ෙ Learning Skills Unit

 ෙ Multicultural Education

 ෙ NCDE

Sandy Powell

Executive Manager
Rural & Manufacturing

Peter Carkeek

Executive Manager
Agriculture, NCDE & 
Vocational Pathways

Margie Fixter

General Manager
Education

 ෙ Assets

 ෙ Client Services

 ෙ Library Services

 ෙ Quality & Sustainability

 ෙ Financial Services

 ෙ Registrar

 ෙ Payroll

 ෙ Information, Communication 
and Technology

Thomas Pamminger

General Manager
Corporate Services

Paul Culpan
Chief Executive Officer

Board

 ෙ Learning & Development

 ෙ Student Services

 ෙ Educational Assurance

 ෙ Skills & Employment

 ෙ Digital Learning
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Summary of Financial Results
A summary of the financial results of the Institute with comparative results for the previous four years,  
appears in the following table:

Financial indicator 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Operating Revenue 1

[Excludes capital contributions, includes 
revaluation of investment properties]

56,473 55,019 115,603 72,766 53,493

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 2

[Excludes capital contributions, depreciation, 
asset impairment write-downs and profit/loss 
on asset disposals]

1,938 (12,975) 16,553 14,507 (1,452)

Liquidity Ratio 3

[Current Assets / Current Liabilities adjusted 
to exclude long-term benefits]

3.44:1 3.55:1 4.02:1 4.81:1 2.88:1

Notes

1  The increase in the Operating Revenue from 2014 to 2015 of $1,453,609 relates to increases in other funding received from the  

   Victorian Government which is offset by decreased contestable funding and student fees and charges.

2  The change in the Operating Surplus/(Deficit) result from 2014 to 2015 primarily relates to additional other funding received by the  

   Victorian Government.

3  The slight decrease in the Liquidity Ratio from 2014 to 2015 relates to increased provisions for annual leave and long service leave  

    payable within 12 months.

Financial Performance
Summary of Business Results for 2015

Classification 2015

Operating Revenue $56,472,619

Property, Plant & Equipment Assets $84,319,269

Student Enrolments 14,920

Student Contact Hours 4,856,589
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2015 Highlights

$8.4 million for GOTAFE to support 
apprentices and trainees

Minister for Training and Skills, Steve Herbert, announced 
$8.4 million for GOTAFE during a visit to the Institute’s 
Benalla campus in November.

The money will help support GOTAFE to deliver 
important, relevant training to drive growth in 
apprenticeships and traineeships.

Funding to match GOTAFE training  
with industry needs and jobs

As part of a $50 million TAFE Back to Work Fund 
package two innovative programs received $4.3 million in 
Andrews Labor Government funding.

Minister for Training and Skills, Steve Herbert, announced 
the grants from the Labor Government’s TAFE Back to 
Work Fund during a visit to the Institute’s Shepparton 
campus in June.

The funding was made up of $2.4 million to help GOTAFE 
deliver training that better meet the emerging needs of 
the region’s growing dairy industry and $1.9 million to 
support improved services to address the issue of youth 
unemployment in the region.

$1.2M TAFE Emergency Rescue Fund support

As part of the Andrews Government’s initiative to support 
TAFEs experiencing financial difficulties, GOTAFE was 
provided with $1.2M from the $20M pool of funding 
designated as the TAFE Emergency Rescue Fund.

GOTAFE top of the class after audit

GOTAFE successfully secured regulatory re-registration 
with the Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA) for 
the maximum possible period of seven years, validating 
our reputation as a high quality vocational education 
provider.

An ASQA registration is required for a business to 
operate as a Registered Training Organisation (RTO) in 
Australia.

This accreditation cements our reputation as a high 
quality vocational education provider. ASQA auditors 
noted that compliance to standards was enthusiastically 
demonstrated by very well prepared teams of staff, 
showcasing a robust system of compliance.

New Study centre to improve participation  
in education

The Wangaratta Regional Study Centre, a collaboration 
between Charles Sturt University (CSU) and Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE), was officially opened 
on Friday 1 May 2015.

The Centre was opened by The Nationals Senator 
for Victoria, Bridget McKenzie, alongside CSU Vice-
Chancellor Professor Andrew Vann and GOTAFE Chief 
Executive Officer Paul Culpan.

Construction of the $7.2 million centre was completed 
in late 2014 and funded by the Australian Government’s 
Education Investment Fund.

Cutting edge centre to improve  
participation in education

A brand new, fully equipped hair and beauty salon was 
opened at the Shepparton Campus in September.

The new salon has been purpose built for 20 students 
and fitted with the latest equipment and products and 
complements the onsite day spa and existing salons. The 
Salon provides students with real life experience working 
with paying clients in facilities that reflect the latest in 
industry trends.

Facelift teaches valuable lessons

GOTAFE’s Fryers Street Campus front gardens received 
a long overdue facelift thanks to Horticulture and 
Conservation Land Management students. CEO Paul 
Culpan invited students to create a new vision for the 
front of the McLean Building in Fryers Street, Shepparton.

Whilst the design modernised the frontage of the Fryers 
St campus, it also reinforces the GOTAFE brand and the 
message GOTAFE is sending to the wider community.

Students undertaking a dual qualification in Certificate 
III Horticulture (AHC30710) and Certificate III in 
Conservation and Land Management (AHC31410) at the 
GOTAFE William Orr Campus conducted the works. The 
garden was officially opened in November. 
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Outstanding students of the year recognised

GOTAFE acknowledged the Outstanding Students of 
the Year in May at an Excellence Awards Luncheon. The 
awards were presented to four Outstanding Students 
of the Year for Benalla, Wangaratta, Seymour and 
Shepparton campuses and were as follows;

• Benalla Campus Outstanding Student of the Year – 
Ashley Merbach. Successfully completed the Diploma 
of Theatre Arts.

• Wangaratta Outstanding Student of the Year – Lisa 
Campbell. Successfully completed the Certificate IV 
in Animal Control and Regulation.

• Seymour Campus Outstanding Student of the Year 
| Overall Institute Outstanding Student of the Year 
– Bethany Mugford. Successfully completed the 
Certificate III in Children’s Services.

• Shepparton Campus Outstanding Student of the 
Year | VTA Trainee of the Year Nominee – Kerrilyn 
Bassett. Successfully completed the Certificate III in 
Agriculture (Dairy Production).

Kyabram Dairy Student awarded best in state

Kyabram dairy farmer and GOTAFE agriculture student 
Kerrilyn Bassett won Trainee of the Year at this year’s 
Victorian Training Awards.

Kerrilyn was genuinely surprised to take out the title, 
at an awards ceremony at Melbourne’s Crown Casino in 
September and received a $10,000 fellowship for her 
achievement and went on to represent the State at a 
National level.

Within hours of winning the award, she was back on 
the farm in Kyabram for early-morning milking and has 
been kept busy since on the back end of a hectic calving 
season.

Her efforts have been recognised in winning the 
Certificate III Dairy Trainee of the Year for 2014 and 
GOTAFE Shepparton’s Most Outstanding Student of the 
Year award from the National Centre for Dairy Education 
(NCDE).

2015 Apprentices of the Year announced

The annual GOTAFE Trade Awards were held in 
December in both Shepparton and Wangaratta, 
celebrating the achievements of over 100 outstanding 
apprentices.

The events, attended by over 500 apprentices, 
employers, sponsors and GOTAFE trainers, recognised 
outstanding pre-apprentices, and apprentices in their 
first, second, third and fourth years from the Automotive, 
Building and Construction, Electrical, Engineering, 
Hairdressing and Beauty, Hospitality, Baking and 
Plumbing learning areas.

Baking Apprentice Michael Chapman was announced  
GOTAFE’s 2015 Apprentice of the Year for Shepparton 
and Seymour Campuses. Plumbing Apprentice Hugh 
Haugen took out the top prize as GOTAFE’s 2015 
Apprentice of the Year for Wangaratta and Benalla 
Campuses. 

New Partnership with Rumbalara  
Elders Facility

GOTAFE have formed an exciting new partnership with 
the Rumbalara Elders Facility in the use of their hair and 
beauty salon.

Our aim is to provide students with the skills industry 
demand which also includes working with people from all 
walks of life, different cultures and ages, while learning 
what it means to give back to the community. The 
students are required to implement all aspects of their 
hairdressing training including appointment booking, 
treatments, ordering and stock take, salon management, 
and time management, while under the supervision of our 
highly qualified Trainers. 

Senator visits GOTAFE to discuss educational 
opportunities in India

GOTAFE General Manager Education, Margie Fixter, met 
with Senator Bridget McKenzie at GOTAFE’s Docker 
Street Campus, Wangaratta to discuss her visit to India in 
February 2015.

Ms Fixter was part of a 400-strong delegation that 
travelled to India to investigate opportunities in 
agricultural trade, education and training expertise with 
a focus on Dairy. Specifically she shared her learning 
in regard to educational opportunities with Senator 
McKenzie.

The delegation was part of a trade mission to observe 
what services Australia could offer to Indian farmers.
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Future Initiatives

$1 million announced to establish  
Skills and Jobs Centres

GOTAFE received $1 million in funding from the Andrews 
Labor Government to establish Skills and Jobs Centres.
The Member for Northern Victoria Jaclyn Symes, 
announced in November funding to assist in the 
establishment of two centres, one in Shepparton and one 
in Wangaratta. 

The Skills and Jobs Centres are part of a state-wide 
government initiative designed to provide independent 
advice to help job seekers understand study options, 
identify career plans and access support services to assist 
with finding a job.

In addition to providing core assessment and advisory 
services, the Skills and Jobs Centres will develop key 
partnerships with other providers to enhance service 
provision and connectivity into the workplace or study.
Construction is now well underway for the two new Skills 
and Jobs Centres at both the GOTAFE Shepparton and 
Wangaratta Campuses, which are expected to be opened 
in late April 2016.

Goulburn Murray Trade Training Centre

Planning is underway for the Goulburn Murray 
Trade Training Centre. The Trade Training Centre 
includes the construction of a new two level facility 
including workshops for construction, furnishing and 
electrotechnology with associated theory rooms and 
amenities, and also the provision of equipment. It will 
deliver qualifications in construction, electrotechnology 
and furnishing to address skills shortages in the trades 
of airconditioning and refrigeration mechanic, electrician 
(general), electronic equipment trades worker, furniture 
finisher, joiner and roof tiler.

Works are scheduled to begin in 2016.
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In our opinion, the accompanying Statement of Performance of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of Technical and Further 
Education for the year ended 31 December 2015, is presented fairly.       

The Statement outlines the performance indicators as determined by the responsible Minister, pre-determined targets 
and the actual results for the year against these indicators, and an explanation of any significant variance between the 
actual results and performance targets.       

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars included in the Statement 
to be misleading or inaccurate.       

Statement of Performance
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Chief Finance & Accounting Officer

Thomas Pamminger

Shepparton,
9 March 2016

Chair of the Board

Michael Tehan

Shepparton,
9 March 2016

Chief Executive Officer 

Paul Culpan 

Shepparton,
9 March 2016
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Key Performance 
Indicator Definition Metric

2015  
Target

2015
Actual Explanation of variances

2014  
Actual

Training Revenue 
diversity

Breakdown of training revenue split by Government 
funded and Fee for Service. Training revenue split by:

Percentage

• Victorian Training Guarantee (VTG) 61.99% 58.00% The reduction reflects lower enrolments for 2015, in a declining market while 
market share was largely maintained.

65.00%

• Fee for Service (FFS) 38.01% 42.00% The increase in Fee for Service revenue increased by 4.5% from 2014 to 2015,  
while overall training revenue declined during the year.

35.00%

Employment costs as a 
proportion of training 
revenue

Employment and Third Party training delivery costs as 
a proportion of training revenue (VTG and FFS).

Employment costs + 3rd party training delivery costs 
/ Training Revenue

Percentage 58.31% 109.70%

The variance to target  is primarily due to training revenue being lower than 
targeted, partially offset by lower employment costs. The improvement on the 
2014 result reflects the continued focus of management in this area. 107.50%

Training revenue per 
teaching FTE

Training Revenue (excl. revenue delivered by 3rd 
parties) / Teaching FTEs

Dollars 176,728.84 126,679.00
The variance to target is due to training revenue being lower than targeted, 
partially offset by lower teacher FTE.

92,034.77

Operating margin 
percentage

Operating margin %

EBIT (excl. Capital Contributions) / Total Revenue 
(excl. Capital Contributions)

Percentage -8.93% -3.60%

The positive variance is due to lower remuneration and other expenses than target 
and funding support from the Victorian Government. -18.80%

Overall Student 
Satisfaction

Of the student surveys returned, the proportion of all 
students satisfied with the overall quality of training.

Percentage 90.00% 89.50%
An improvement from 2014, although just short of target. GOTAFE continues to 
implement strategies to improve the quality of training to students.

87.00%

Overall Employer 
Satisfaction

Of the employer surveys returned, the proportion 
of all employers who are, overall, satisfied with the 
training.

Percentage 90.00% 93.00%
This survey result from employers of apprentices and trainees reflects training 
requirements meeting the needs of employers. 96.40%

Working Capital Ratio Current Assets / Current Liabilities (adjusted to 
exclude long-term benefits in current liability 
measured at present value)

Ratio > 1.5 : 1 3.44 : 1
The slight decrease in the Liquidity Ratio from 2014 to 2015 relates to increased 
provisions for annual leave and long service leave payable within 12 months. 3.55 : 1

 
Fee for Service Revenue

 
Fee for Service Revenue / Total Revenue (ex. Capital) Percentage 10.00%

20.00% While overall training revenue declined during the year, fee for service revenue 
increased by 4.5% from 2014 to 2015, and indicates the Institute’s continuing 
efforts to maximise this category of income in a highly competitive market.

19.68%

Pathways to University 
qualifications

Number of courses that have approved Higher 
Education Articulation Agreements  
(Target is > 10 courses)

No. of courses 10 54
The Institute has made considerable efforts to maintain the opportunities for TAFE 
students in providing pathways for them to higher education. GOTAFE continues 
to investigate further opportunities.

27

Statement of Performance
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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Key Performance 
Indicator Definition Metric

2015  
Target

2015
Actual Explanation of variances

2014  
Actual
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Satisfaction

Of the student surveys returned, the proportion of all 
students satisfied with the overall quality of training.

Percentage 90.00% 89.50%
An improvement from 2014, although just short of target. GOTAFE continues to 
implement strategies to improve the quality of training to students.

87.00%
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Satisfaction

Of the employer surveys returned, the proportion 
of all employers who are, overall, satisfied with the 
training.

Percentage 90.00% 93.00%
This survey result from employers of apprentices and trainees reflects training 
requirements meeting the needs of employers. 96.40%

Working Capital Ratio Current Assets / Current Liabilities (adjusted to 
exclude long-term benefits in current liability 
measured at present value)

Ratio > 1.5 : 1 3.44 : 1
The slight decrease in the Liquidity Ratio from 2014 to 2015 relates to increased 
provisions for annual leave and long service leave payable within 12 months. 3.55 : 1

 
Fee for Service Revenue

 
Fee for Service Revenue / Total Revenue (ex. Capital) Percentage 10.00%

20.00% While overall training revenue declined during the year, fee for service revenue 
increased by 4.5% from 2014 to 2015, and indicates the Institute’s continuing 
efforts to maximise this category of income in a highly competitive market.

19.68%

Pathways to University 
qualifications

Number of courses that have approved Higher 
Education Articulation Agreements  
(Target is > 10 courses)

No. of courses 10 54
The Institute has made considerable efforts to maintain the opportunities for TAFE 
students in providing pathways for them to higher education. GOTAFE continues 
to investigate further opportunities.
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Compliance

About the Annual Report

The Institute’s 2015 Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the following acts, 
but not limited to; 

 Ì Education and Training Reform Act 2006 (ETRA)

 Ì Constitution of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of 
Technical and Further Education Order 2013

 Ì Directions of the Minister for Training and Skills (and 
predecessors)

 Ì Commercial Guidelines - TAFE Institutes

 Ì Strategic Planning Guidelines - TAFE Institutes

 Ì Public Administration Act 2004

 Ì Financial Management Act 1994 

 Ì Freedom of Information Act 1982

 Ì Building Act 1993

 Ì Protected Disclosure Act 2012

 Ì Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

The required reporting appears throughout this 
publication, either in the main body of the Annual Report 
or on the following pages. A Disclosure Index appears at 
the end of this publication to facilitate identification of 
compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Freedom of Information

Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the public a right 
of access to documents held by the Department. During 
2015, one request was made to GOTAFE by a member of 
the public or parliament to access information. 

Making a request

The authorised Freedom of Information Officer for the 
Institute is the General Manager Corporate Services, 
who is responsible for the initial receipt and action 
upon requests for information or access to a document 
or record. Enquiries regarding access can be made by 
phone to the General Manager Corporate Services on 
1300 GOTAFE (1300 468 233) in the first instance. As 
detailed in s17 of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 
formal requests for access to documents or records are 
required to be directed in writing to:

The General Manager Corporate Services 
Attention: Freedom of Information Officer 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE  
152 – 200 Fryers Street,  
Shepparton, Victoria 3630

In summary, the requirements for making a request are:

 Ì it should be in writing;

 Ì it should identify as clearly as possible which 
document is being requested; and

 Ì it should be accompanied by the appropriate 
application fee (the fee may be waived in certain 
circumstances).

Charges for access are in accordance with the Freedom 

of Information (Access Charges) Regulations 1983.

Further information regarding Freedom of Information 
can be found at www.foi.vic.gov.au.

Additional Information Available on Request

In compliance with the requirements of the Standing 
Directions of the Minister for Finance, details in respect 
of the items listed below have been retained by GOTAFE 
and are available on request, subject to the provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982. 

 Ì a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests 
have been duly completed by all relevant officers;

 Ì details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or 
held beneficially in a statutory authority or subsidiary; 

 Ì details of publications produced by the entity about 
itself, and how these can be obtained; 

 Ì details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 
levies charged by the entity; 

 Ì details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by the entity; 

 Ì details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit;

 Ì  details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by the entity to 
develop community awareness of the entity and its 
services; 

 Ì details of assessments and measures undertaken 
to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees; 

 Ì a general statement on industrial relations within 
the entity and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes; 



COMPLIANCE INFORMATION     |    23

 Ì  a list of major committees sponsored by the entity, the 
purposes of each committee and the extent to which 
the purposes have been achieved.

Enquiries regarding details of any of the above should be 
addressed to:

Mr Paul Culpan

Chief Executive Officer 

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

152 – 200 Fryers Street, 

Shepparton, Victoria 3630

Phone:  1300 GOTAFE (1300 468 233)

Email:  pculpan@gotafe.vic.edu.au

Web:  www.gotafe.vic.edu.au

Protected Disclosure Act  

GOTAFE has a procedure in place to meet the 
requirements of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012. There 
were no disclosures made to the Institute during 2015, 
nor any disclosures referred to or from the Ombudsman 
or taken over by the Ombudsman. 

There were no recommendations made by the 
Ombudsman under the Act that related to the Institute.  

National Competition Policy

Under the National Competition Policy (NCP), the guiding 
legislative principle is that legislation, including future 
legislative proposals, should not restrict competition 
unless it can be demonstrated that:

 Ì the benefits of the restriction to the community as a 
whole outweigh the costs; and

 Ì the objectives of the legislation can only be achieved 
by restricting competition. 

Competitive neutrality requires government businesses to 
ensure where services compete, or potentially compete 
with the private sector, any advantage arising solely from 
their government ownership be removed if they are not in 
the public interest. 

Government businesses are required to cost and price 
these services as if they were privately owned and thus 
be fully cost reflective. Competitive neutrality policy 
provides government businesses with a tool to enhance 
decisions on resource allocation. This policy does not 
override other policy objectives of government and 
focuses on efficiency in the provision of service. 

GOTAFE continues to comply with the requirements of 
the NCP and has developed and maintained a pricing 
model that ensures prices charged for business activity 
reflect all costs applicable and that all advantages and 
disadvantages of Government ownership are included in 
pricing calculations.

Therefore GOTAFE is working to ensure that Victoria 
fulfils its requirements on competitive neutrality reporting 
for technological based businesses against the enhanced 
principles as required under the National Reform Agenda.

Maintenance and capital works 

The Institute maintains its focus on providing quality 
infrastructure whilst compliant with the following; 

 Ì Building Act 1993

 Ì Building Regulations 2006 

 Ì Building Code of Australia

 Ì Disability Act 2006 

Achievements for 2015 included:

 Ì Maintained scheduled and reactive maintenance of 
assets.

 Ì Compliance to the Victorian Building Authority - 
Essential Safety Measures.

 Ì Compliance to the Department of Health and Human 
Services - Cooling Towers.

 Ì Capital Projects 
- Construction of space for Hair / Beauty Training,  

   Shepparton 

- Upgrade of passenger lift system, Shepparton 

- Installation of landscaped space, Shepparton 

- Construction of Student Amenity, Shepparton 

- Upgrade to air conditioning at Wangaratta Regional    

   Study Centre 

- Continued design documentation of the Goulburn  

   Murray Trades Skills Centre with construction due to  

   commence in 2016 
- Skills and Job Centre, Shepparton

 Ì Submission of the GOTAFE Asset Management Plan

Government Advertising

GOTAFE has no expenditure for advertising with 
government over $150,000.
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Major Commercial Activity

GOTAFE has undertaken no major commercial activities 
during 2015 that equate to more than five per cent of the 
annual revenue. 

External Reviews

There were no major external reviews of the Institute in 
2015.

Design and print requirements 

GOTAFE’s Annual Report complies with FRD 30B 
Standard requirements for the design and print of annual 
reports.

Victorian Public Sector Travel Principles

GOTAFE has a procedure in place to ensure it is 
compliant with the Victorian Public Sector Travel 
Principles.

Controlled Entities

GOTAFE does not have any controlled entities.

Attestation on compliance

Attestation on compliance with the Australian/New 
Zealand Risk Management Standard.

I, Michael Tehan, Chair of the Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE) Board, certify that the 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE) has risk 
management processes in place consistent with the 
Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard 
AS/NZS ISO31000:2009 (or equivalent designated 
standard) and an internal control system is in place 
that enables the Executive to understand, manage 
and satisfactorily control risk exposures. The Audit 
Committee verifies this assurance and that the Risk 
Profile of GOTAFE has been critically reviewed within 
the last 12 months.

Michael H. Tehan 
Chair of the Board 
GOTAFE, December 2015

Non-Academic Student Fees 

2015 students enrolling in government-subsidised 
programs were provided a brochure on Institute Fees and 
Charges. This detailed:

 Ì fees and charges 

 Ì exemptions and concessions information 

 Ì financial assistance and refunds 

 Ì Student Services and Amenities Fee

Fees and charges and Student Services information was 
also available on the Institute’s website.

In 2015 the Institute did not charge a Student Services 
and Amenities Fee.  The expenditure on student services, 
amenities and activities, which included orientation 
activities, student handbook, youth pathway plans, 
counselling, disability support, first aid assistance and 
student activities, support and information on various 
topics, accommodation, public transport, course advice 
and fee payment assistance and health information was 
as follows:

 Ì Salary of Student Services Officers and Counselling 
Officers - $922,762

 Ì Non-Salary - $104,256

The services provided by the Institute for students were 
further detailed within the Student Services brochures 
provided at the point of enrolment and displayed and 
made freely available throughout the Institute and on the 
GOTAFE website. 
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In 2015, there were seven consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater.   
The total expenditure incurred during 2015 in relation to these consultancies is $539,548.31 (excl. GST). 

In 2015, there were nine consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000.  
The total expenditure incurred during 2015 in relation to these consultancies is $14,155.55 (excl. GST).

Consultants over $10,000

Consultant Project Amount

Ai Group Provided HR support for various matters $10,860.36

Barrett Consulting CRM implementation support $16,322.21

Biruu Pty Ltd “Back to Work” tender support $17,950.00

Kreab and Gavin Anderson Public relations $11,103.00

Shine Wing Australia / Moore Stephens ASQA Project $111,984.92

Price Waterhouse Coopers “Realignment to Grow” Project $360,927.82

Vincent Chrisp
Architectural services regarding the Goulburn 
Murray Trade Skills Centre

$10,400.00

No future expenditure committed for the above consultants.

The GOTAFE Annual Report is published on GOTAFE’s public website and the above table is included. GOTAFE’s 2015 
disclosure on consultants cannot be compared to previous disclosures given the revised definition of consultants.  
 

Consultants
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Human Resources

Workforce information

Workforce Data - average equivalent Full Time (EFT) staffing statistics

Classification December 2015 December 2014

Executive 3.5 2.75

Teaching 212.49 230.95

PACCT 116.25 121.56

Casuals / Sessionals 70.15 75.18

Others (Agreed Contracts) 36.25 41.09

Total 438.64 471.53

Note: The information above represents an average equivalent full-time (EFT) staffing figure for the 2014  
and 2015 calendar years, i.e. the sum of the monthly figures divided by 12.

Workforce Data separated by gender

December 2015 December 2014

Classification Male Female Male Female

Teaching 117 149 126 154

PACCT 24 125 28 132

Casuals / Sessionals 94 156 122 153

Others (Agreed Contracts) 25 21 27 24

Workforce Data separated by age

Classification Under 21 21 - 30 31 - 40 41 - 50 51 - 60 Over 61

Teaching 0 9 45 85 87 40

PACCT 1 17 32 40 41 18

Casuals / Sessionals 5 28 41 73 70 33

Others (Agreed Contracts) 0 0 3 21 20 2
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Occupational Health & Safety (OHS)

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE) due to the 
nature of its operations and geographical spread has a 
broad OHS risk profile and continues to demonstrate its 
commitment to occupational health and safety.

Institute management endeavours to ensure all people 
– students, staff, volunteers, contractors and the general 
public have the highest practicable level of protection 
against risks to health safety. It also recognises that those 
who manage or control events that create health and safety 
risks are responsible for elimination of, or controlling those 
risks. 

During 2015 there has been a continued focus on the 
development and embedding of GOTAFE’s safety 
management system and a culture of OHS accountability 
and engagement recognised and driven by executive 
management.

Key Initiatives

Review of the 2015 OHS Plan, top five priorities targeted 

 Ì Incident reporting and Investigation

 Ì  Emergency Management & Response

 Ì  Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment process

 Ì  OHSMS Audit

 Ì  Training and Competency

Six OHS Committees, five comprising of representatives 
from all areas in conjunction with the Board OHS Oversight 
Committee provide effective OHS consultation.

Annual OHS Risk Action Plans are in place for all 38 areas 
and have been redesigned to capture more data whilst also 
providing more accurate reporting.

Provision of OHS related training for Institute appointed 
staff, trained in the following areas:

 Ì 24 Health & Safety Representatives Initial 5 day course

 Ì  24 Emergency Warden Training

 Ì  25 First Aid Officer Training: Apply First Aid, CPR and 
Defibrillator

Workcover & Injury Management 
Performance

The Institute Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 
for 2015 Workcover claims was calculated for Standard 
Workcover claims and all Workcover claims (Standard 
and Minor) as per AS1885. The LTIFR is the number of 
occurrences of injury/disease or each one million work 
hours worked by staff and is used to measure OHS trends 
over time. Results for 2015 were:

 Ì Standard Workcover Lost Time Injury claims – 6.63 
occurrences/million work hours (compared to 1.8 in 
2014)

 Ì Incidence Rate 0.87 for each 100 workers employed

 Ì  Average Lost Time Rate – 112 days

GOTAFE recognises that OHS best practices not only 
provide a safer working environment but improves 
worker morale and productivity and endeavours to 
ensure the effective monitoring of safety management 
systems and performance, at all levels by means of 
audits, self-assessments, reviews and inspections; and the 
application of corrective and preventative action to all 
identified deficiencies and non-compliances. The Institute 
also acknowledges that improvement of workplace 
safety standards is best achieved through consultation, 
participation and training, and will continue to improve 
its performance in compliance with all relevant industry 
codes, legislation and standards.

Carers Recognition Act 2013 (Carers Act) 

GOTAFE recognise that some of its staff and students 
have carer responsibilities. Staff and/or students in a 
carer’s role are encouraged to access a range of support 
from Student Services including counselling, disability 
support and welfare supports. 
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Application of Employment and  
Conduct Principles

GOTAFE is committed to recruiting the best available 
people into the organisation and remunerating them 
appropriately.

Recruitment practices are in accordance with the 
Government guidelines to ensure that the Institute meets 
the requirements of the Public Sector Management 

and Employment Act 1998. Recruitment processes 
are detailed in the Institute’s Recruitment Policy and 
associated procedures.

The Institute observes an Employee Code of Conduct 
Procedure detailing the minimum obligations and 
standards of personal behaviour and conduct expected 
of staff employed by the Institute. The purpose of the 
code is to promote adherence to the public sector values 
prescribed in the Public Administration Act 2004. The 
code outlines standards of behaviour rather than detailed 
policies and procedures.

All new staff to the Institute are provided with a copy 
of the Code of Conduct for Victorian Public Sector 
Employees Handbook at the point of induction. All 
employees have been properly classified in the workforce 
data collections.

Recruitment  

By the end of December 2015 GOTAFE had advertised 46 
positions, of these positions, 35 were filled, six were not 
filled and five were withdrawn. The number of advertised 
positions in 2015 was similar to that in 2014.

Industrial Relations

The Victorian TAFE Teaching Staff Multi-Enterprise 
Agreement was implemented in December 2015.  
GOTAFE and the National Tertiary Education Union 
(NTEU) have come to an in principle agreement for the  
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE Enterprise (PACCT) 
Agreement, which is going through the government 
approval process with the intention of implementation in 
the first half of 2016. Regular meetings were conducted 
as per the negotiation meeting schedule. There has been 
no industrial action during this period.
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A 2015 Environmental Management Plan was in place in 2015, aimed at ensuring environmental compliance, 
environmental sustainability and reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Key indicators for the 2015 year appear  
in the following tables.

Energy

2015 2014 

Indicator Electricity Natural gas Green 
power

Electricity Natural gas Green 
power

Total energy usage (MJ) 12,968,582 13,912,634 0 13,210, 120 11,166,022 0

Greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with energy use (t CO2 e)

4,827 768 - 4,917 616 -

Actions undertaken

LED lights LED lights installed as new minor works projects undertaken or as part of 
upgrade or maintenance needs.

Explanatory notes

Energy data above is for both training operations and office and is not able to be differentiated for office only.  
Energy data is not available for shared/co-located site in Western Victoria and in prison campuses at Beechworth  
and Dhurringile.

Transport

2015 2014

Indicator Diesel 
vehicles

LPG 
vehicles

Petrol 
vehicles

Diesel 
vehicles

LPG 
vehicles

Petrol 
vehicles

Total fuel consumption by vehicles 
(litres)

146,580 44,334 3,436 182,203 55,211 4,415

Total vehicle travel (km) 1,995,652 377,406 32,793 2,420,600 445,289 37,619

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from vehicle fleet (t CO2 e)

422 75 9 524 94 11

Total distance travelled by aeroplane 
(km)

94,392 72,180

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from aeroplane travel (t CO2 e)

24 17

Actions undertaken

Desktop and videoconferencing 
meetings

Skype for Business desktop videoconferencing is now an established 
practice and has significantly reduced intra-campus travel for meetings. 
Videoconferencing equipment installed in conference rooms at the major 
campuses facilitated group training and  
meetings and reduced car travel.

Vehicle purchases and allocations A reduction in the purchase of new cars and in vehicle allocations to managers 
further contributed to a reduction in vehicle travel.

Explanatory notes

Vehicles include cars (pool cars and manager-allocated vehicles) and buses for transport of students. Training vehicles 
(tractors, quad bikes) are excluded.

Environmental Performance
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Waste

Indicator 2015 2014

Landfill Co-mingle 
recycling

Compost Landfill Co-mingle 
recycling

Compost

Total units of waste disposed of 
(kg/yr)

94,965 28,795 N/A 103,177 34,341 N/A

Recycling rate (percentage of total 
waste)

23.3% 25%

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from waste (t CO2 e)

N/A N/A

Actions undertaken

Waste management systems Used laptops, computers and monitors are transferred to Reboot IT for re-sale or  
recycling, while other e-waste is taken to Council transfer stations for recycling.

Explanatory notes

Waste is for both training operations and office. Waste data is not available for shared/co-located site in Western Victoria 
and in prison campuses at Beechworth and Dhurringile. Paperboard and paper included with co-mingle recycling data 
above.

Paper

Indicator 2015 2014

Total units of copy paper used 
(reams)

N/A N/A

Actions undertaken

Print system Centralised printer consolidation introduced in December features a need 
to enter a code to pick up print items, which will impact positively on paper 
wastage.

Copy paper purchase All copy paper purchased is certified as carbon neutral and 20% recycled.

Explanatory notes

Aggregate paper consumption on GOTAFE printer/photocopier machines by staff and students or outsourced to the 
contracted printer decreased in 2015 on 2014 year level by 3.2% as more use of online training delivery and electronic 
storage occurred.

Water

Indicator 2015 2014

Total units of metered water 
consumed (kilolitres)

41,327 39,403

Actions undertaken

Grounds watering Sprinkler timing set to minimise usage.

Explanatory notes

Kilolitres consumed data is potable/town water for training operations, grounds maintenance and office use for 
campuses other than shared/co-located site in Western Victoria and prison campuses at Beechworth and Dhurringile. 

Rainwater tanks in use at Benalla and Seymour campuses and Wangaratta Regional Study Centre for toilet flushing, 
grounds/landscape and horticulture operations is not metered.



FINANCIAL REPORTS    |    31

Financial Report

Financial statements and accompanying notes

Auditor’s Report 32

Declaration by Chair of the Board, Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Finance and Accounting Officer

35

Comprehensive Operating Statement 36

Balance Sheet 37

Statement of Changes in Equity 38

Cash Flow Statement 39

Notes to the Financial Statements 40

Disclosure Index 86

The financial report was authorised for issue  
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Declaration by Chair of the Board,  
Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Finance & Accounting Officer 
  

We certify that the attached financial statements for the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has been prepared in 
accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting 
Directions issued under that legislation, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Australian 
Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the statement of comprehensive income, balance 
sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes to and forming part of the financial report, 
presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 31 December 2015 and financial position of the 
Institute as at 31 December 2015. 

At the date of signing this financial report, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars 
included in the financial report to be misleading or inaccurate. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
Institute will be able to pay its debts as and when they became due and payable.

The Board Chair and the Chief Executive Officer sign this declaration as delegates of, and in accordance with a 
resolution of, the Board of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE.  

   

Chief Finance & Accounting Officer

Thomas Pamminger

Shepparton,
9 March 2016

Chair of the Board

Michael Tehan

Shepparton,
9 March 2016

Chief Executive Officer 

Paul Culpan 

Shepparton,
9 March 2016
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Comprehensive Operating Statement 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note
2015 

$’000
2014 

$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income from transactions

Government contributions - operating 2(a)(i) 37,665  33,279 

Government contributions - capital 2(a)(ii) 960  500 

Sales of goods and services 2(b) 17,159  19,301 

Interest 2(c) 519  918 

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge  
or for nominal consideration

2(d) -  5,965 

Other income 2(e) 1,130  1,232 

Total income from transactions 57,433  61,195 

Expenses from transactions 

Employee benefits 3(a) 36,895  38,487 

Depreciation and amortisation 3(b) 4,637  4,627 

Grants and other transfers 3(c) -  54 

Supplies and services 3(d) 11,956  24,517 

Other operating expenses 3(e) 4,992  4,440 

Total expenses from transactions 58,480  72,125 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) (1,047)  (10,930)

Other economic flows included in net result

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 1 4(a) 35 (7,683)

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 2 4(b) (539) (388)

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 4(c) (153) (108)

Total other economic flows included in net result (657) (8,179)

Net result from continuing operations (1,704) (19,109)

Net result (1,704) (19,109)

Comprehensive result (1,704) (19,109)

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Notes    
1   ‘Net gain/(loss) on non financial assets’ includes unrealised and realised gains/(losses) from revaluations, impairments, and disposals of  
    all physical assets and intangible assets, except when these are taken through the asset revaluation surplus.
2  ‘Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments’ includes bad and doubtful debts from other economic flows, unrealised and realised gains/ 
   (losses) from revaluations, impairments and reversals of impairment, and gains/(losses) from disposals of financial instruments, except  
   when these are taken through the financial assets available-for-sale revaluation surplus.
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Balance Sheet
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note
2015 

$’000
2014 

$’000

ASSETS

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 15(a) 11,736 6,164

Receivables 5 9,647 8,028

Investments and other financial assets 6 13,060 18,811

Total financial assets 34,443 33,003

Non-financial assets

Inventories 7 81 89

Property, plant and equipment 8 84,319 87,107

Investment properties 9 1,990 1,990

Intangible assets 10 3,284 3,695

Other non financial assets 11 876 426

Total non financial assets 90,550 93,307

Total assets 124,993 126,310

LIABILITIES

Payables 12 3,673 3,740

Provisions 13 7,154 6,700

Total liabilities 10,827 10,440

Net assets 114,166 115,870

EQUITY

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 21,788 23,492

Physical asset revaluation surplus 14(a) 46,298 46,298

Contributed capital 46,080 46,080

Net worth  114,166 115,870

Commitments for expenditure 16 6,212 5,433

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 17 368 383

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.    
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note

Physical asset 
revaluation 

surplus

$’000

Accumulated 
surplus

$’000

Contributions 
by owner

$’000

Total

$’000

At 1 January 2014 46,298 42,601 46,080 134,979

Net result for the year - (19,109) - (19,109)

Year ended 31 December 2014 46,298 23,492 46,080 115,870

Net result for the year - (1,704) - (1,704)

Year ended 31 December 2015 46,298 21,788 46,080 114,166

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note
2015 

$’000
2014 

$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Government contributions - operating 2(a)(i) 40,256 44,556

Government contributions - capital 2(a)(ii) 960 500

User fees and charges received 14,770 18,489

Goods and services tax recovered from the ATO 176 429

Interest received 468 1,031

Other receipts 1,565 3,316

Total receipts 58,195 68,321

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (55,853) (78,787)

Goods and services tax paid to the ATO (1,118) (2,078)

Other payments - (53)

Total payments (56,971) (80,918)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 15(b) 1,224 (12,597)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for investments (5,500) (858)

Proceeds from sale of investments 11,251 8,562

Purchases of non-financial assets (1,577) (1,258)

Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets 174 89

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 4,348 6,535

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,572 (6,062)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 6,164 12,226

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15(a) 11,736 6,164

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 

Notes

1  Goods and Services Tax paid to the ATO is presented on a net basis.
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The annual financial statements represent the audited 
general purpose financial statements for Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2015 and the comparative information 
presented for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting 
policies adopted by the Institute in the preparation of 
the financial report. The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 

1.01 Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 

Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS) which include Interpretations, issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 
In particular, they are presented in a manner consistent 
with the requirements of the AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial 
Reporting. 

For the purposes of preparing financial statements, the 
Institute is classed as a not-for-profit entity.  Where 
appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-
profit entities have been applied.  

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner 
which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, 
thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions or other events is reported.  

1.02 Basis of accounting preparation and 
measurement

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in 
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of 
when cash is received or paid.

These financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the 
Institute, and have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention. Historical cost is based 
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 
for assets.  Exceptions to the historical cost convention 
include:

 Ì non-financial physical assets which, subsequent 
to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount 
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are 
made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the 
carrying amounts do not materially differ from their 
fair value;

 Ì the fair value of an asset other than land is generally 
based on its depreciated replacement value; and

 Ì derivative financial instruments, managed 
investment schemes, certain debt securities, 
investment properties after initial recognition, 
which are measured at fair value through profit and 
loss;  

Critical accounting judgement and key sources  
of estimation uncertainty

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required 
to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and associated assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised and also in future periods that are affected by 
the revision. Judgements made by management in the 
application of AASs that have significant effects on the 
financial statements and estimates relate to:

 Ì the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment;

 Ì superannuation expense; and

 Ì actuarial assumptions for employee benefit 
provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, 
patterns of leave claims, future salary movements 
and future discount rates.  

Fair value measurement 

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, the 
Institute determines the policies and procedures for both 
recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant 
and equipment, biological assets, investment properties 
and financial instruments and for non-recurring fair value 

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 1 - Statement of significant accounting policies
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measurements such as non-financial physical assets held 
for sale, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 
and the relevant Financial Reporting Directions.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:  

 Ì Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities

 Ì Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; 
and

 Ì Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Institute 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset 
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above.

In addition, the Institute determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re 
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer General Victoria (VGV) is the Institute’s 
independent valuation agency. There may be occasions 
when the entity utilises the services of other external 
third party valuers to determine fair value.

The Institute, in conjunction with VGV and other external 
valuers, monitors changes in the fair value of each asset 
and liability through relevant data sources to determine 
whether revaluation is required.   

1.03 Reporting entity

The financial statements cover the Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE as an individual reporting entity. The 
Institute is a statutory body corporate, established 
pursuant to an act made by the Victorian Government 
under the Education and Training Reform Act 2006. 

Its principal address is:

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE   
Fryers Street      
Shepparton, Victoria, Australia 3630

The financial statements include all the controlled 
activities of the entity.  

1.04 Events after reporting date

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past 
transactions or other past events. Where the transactions 
result from an agreement between the Institute and 
other parties, the transactions are only recognised 
when the agreement is irrevocable at or before balance 
date. Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in 
the financial statements for events which occur after 
the reporting date and before the date the statements 
are authorised for issue, where those events provide 
information about conditions which existed at the 
reporting date. 

Note disclosure is made about events between the 
reporting date and the date the statements are 
authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions 
which arose after the reporting date and are considered 
to be of material interest.

1.05 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included with other receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement 
on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are 
presented as operating cash flow. 

Commitments and contingent assets or liabilities are 
presented on a gross basis.    

1.06 Income from transactions

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 
income can be reliably measured at fair value. Amounts 
disclosed as income are, where applicable, net of returns, 
allowances and duties and taxes. Revenue is recognised 
for each of the Institute’s major activities as follows:

Government contributions

Government contributions are recognised as revenue 
in the period when the Institute gains control of the 
contributions. Control is recognised upon receipt or 
notification by relevant authorities of the right to receive 
a contribution for the current period.
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Sale of goods and services

(i) Student fees and charges

Student fees and charges revenue is recognised by 
reference to the percentage of services provided. 
Where student fees and charges revenue has been 
clearly received in respect of courses or programs to 
be delivered in the following year, any non-refundable 
portion of the fees is treated as revenue in the year of 
receipt and the balance as Revenue in Advance.

(ii) Fee for Service   

Fee for service revenue is recognised by reference to 
the percentage completion of each contract, i.e. in the 
reporting period in which the services are rendered. 
Where fee for service revenue of a reciprocal nature has 
been clearly received in respect of programs or services 
to be delivered in the following year, such amounts are 
disclosed as Revenue in Advance.

(iii) Revenue from sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised by the Institute 
when:

(a) the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods have transferred to the buyer; 

(b) the Institute retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 

(c) the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow to the Institute; and

(e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of 
the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest

Interest income includes interest received on bank term 
deposits and other investments and the unwinding over 
time of the discount on financial assets. Interest income 
is recognised using the effective interest method which 
allocates the interest over the relevant period.

Net realised and unrealised gains and losses on the 
revaluation of investments do not form part of income 
from transactions, but are reported either as part of 
income from other economic flows in the net result or 
as unrealised gains or losses taken directly to equity, 
forming part of the total change in net worth in the 
comprehensive result.

Other income

Rental income   

Rental income is recognised on a time proportional basis 
and is brought to account when the Institute’s right to 
receive the rental is established.

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge 
or for nominal consideration

Contributions of resources received free of charge or 
for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair 
value when the transferee obtains control over them, 
irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are 
imposed over the use of the contributions. Contributions 
in the form of services are only recognised when a fair 
value can be reliably determined and the services would 
have been purchased if not received as a donation. 

1.07 Expenses from transactions

Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are 
incurred, and reported in the financial year to which they 
relate.

Employee benefits  

Expenses for employee benefits are recognised when 
incurred, except for contributions in respect of defined 
benefit plans.  

Retirement benefit obligations

(i) Defined contribution plan 

Contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed 
when they become payable.   

(ii) Defined benefit plans

The amount charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income in respect of superannuation represents the 
contributions made by the Institute to the superannuation 
plan in respect of current services of current Institute 
staff. Superannuation contributions are made to the plans 
based on the relevant rules of each plan.  

The Institute does not recognise any deferred liability 
in respect of the plan(s) because the Institute has no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits 
relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as and when they fall due. 
The Department of Treasury and Finance recognises 
and discloses the State’s defined benefit liabilities in its 
finance report.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and 
equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding 
land. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-
line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 
estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period 
of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the 
shorter, using the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, and adjustments made where 
appropriate.
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Depreciation methods and rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are:

Class of asset Method Rate

Buildings Straight 2.5% - 4.0%

Plant & equipment Straight 15.0%

Computer & electronic equipment Straight 15.0% - 34.0%

Furniture and fittings Straight 10.0%

Motor vehicles Straight 25.0%

Internal use software Straight 10.00%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed 
and adjusted if appropriate on an annual basis.  

Amortisation

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a 
straight line basis over the assets useful lives. Amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is 
in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed 
at least at the end of each annual reporting period. In 
addition, an assessment is made at each reporting date to 
determine whether there are indicators that the intangible 
asset concerned is impaired. If so, the assets concerned 
are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their 
recoverable amount.   

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortised. 
The useful life of intangible assets that are not being 
amortised are reviewed each period to determine 
whether events and circumstances continue to support an 
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. In addition, 
the Institute tests all intangible assets with indefinite lives 
for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount with 
its carrying amount:

(a) annually;

(b) whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. 

Any excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable 
amount is recognised as an impairment loss. 

Interest Expense

Interest expense is recognised in the period in which it is 
incurred.

Interest expense includes interest on advances, loans, 
overdrafts, bonds and bills, deposit, interest components 
of finance lease repayments, and amortisation of discounts 
or premiums in relation to borrowings. 

The institute had no borrowing costs in 2015 and 2014. 

Grants and other transfers

Grants and other transfers to third parties are recognised 
as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
paid or payable. 

Fair value of assets and services provided free of charge 
or for nominal consideration

Resources provided free of charge or for nominal 
consideration are recognised at their fair value when 
the Institute obtains control over them, irrespective of 
whether these contributions are subject to restrictions 
or conditions over their use. Contributions in the form 
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would have been 
purchased if not received as a donation.  

1.08 Other economic flows included in net result

Other economic flows measure the change in volume 
or value of assets or liabilities that do not result from 
transactions.

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities 
includes realised and unrealised gains and losses from 
revaluations, impairments, and disposals of all physical 
assets and intangible assets.

Disposal of non-financial assets

Any gain or loss on disposal of non-financial assets is 
recognised at the date control of the asset is passed to 
the buyer and is determined after deducting from the 
proceeds the carrying value of the asset at the time.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 
(and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested 
annually for impairment (i.e. as to whether their carrying 
value exceeds their recoverable amount and so require 
write downs). 

All other assets are assessed annually for indications of 
impairment, except for:  

 Ì Inventories;   

 Ì Financial assets; 

 Ì Investment property that is measured at fair value;

 Ì Non-current assets held-for-sale. 

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets 
concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value 
exceeds their possible recoverable amount. Where an 
asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the difference is written off by a charge to the statement 
of comprehensive income, except to the extent that the 
write down can be debited to an asset revaluation reserve 
amount applicable to that class of asset.
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If there is an indication that there has been a change 
in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying 
amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This 
reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised in prior years. 

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction 
of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the 
use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision 
to the contrary has been made. 

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at 
the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value 
less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held 
primarily to generate net cash flows is measured at the 
higher of the present value of future cash flows expected 
to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to 
sell. It is deemed that, in the event of the loss of an asset, 
the future economic benefits arising from the use of the 
asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the 
contrary has been made.

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes realised 
and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of 
financial instruments that are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss or held-for-trading, impairment 
and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at 
amortised cost, and disposals of financial assets.

Revaluations of financial instruments at fair value

The revaluation gain/(loss) on financial instruments 
at fair value excludes dividends or interest earned on 
financial assets, which is reported as part of income from 
transactions.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Institute 
assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  
Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the 
debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 
days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings. All 
financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair 
value through profit and loss, are subject to annual review 
for impairment.

Bad and doubtful debts are assessed on a regular basis. 
Those bad debts considered as written off by mutual 
consent are classified as a transaction expense. The 
allowance for doubtful receivables and bad debts not 
written off by mutual consent are adjusted as ‘other 
economic flows’.

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include 
the gains or losses from reclassifications of amounts 
from reserves and/or accumulated surplus to net result, 
and from the revaluation of the present value of the long 
service leave liability due to changes in the bond interest 
rates. 

This classification is consistent with the whole 
government reporting format and is allowed under AASB 
101 Presentation of Financial Statements.   
 

1.09 Financial instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements 
that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Categories of non-derivative financial instruments

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with 
fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on 
an active market. These assets are initially recognised at 
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and 
deposits (refer to Note 1.10), term deposits with maturity 
greater than three months, trade receivables, loans and 
other receivables, but not statutory receivables.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on 
the date they are originated. They are initially measured 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any 
difference between the initial recognised amount and 
the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss 
over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised 
cost include all of the Institute’s contractual payables, 
advances received and interest-bearing arrangements 
other than those designated at fair value through profit 
or loss.

Reclassification of financial instruments

Subsequent to initial recognition and under rare 
circumstances, non-derivative financial instruments assets 
that have not been designated at fair value through profit 
or loss upon recognition, may be reclassified out of the 
fair value through profit or loss category, if they are no 
longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in 
the near term.
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Financial instrument assets that meet the definition of 
loans and receivables may be reclassified out of the fair 
value through profit and loss category into the loans and 
receivables category, where they would have met the 
definition of loans and receivables had they not been 
required to be classified as fair value through profit and 
loss. In these cases, the financial instrument assets may 
be reclassified out of the fair value through profit and loss 
category, if there is the intention and ability to hold them 
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets that meet 
the definition of loans and receivables may be reclassified 
into the loans and receivables category if there is the 
intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable 
future or until maturity.    

1.10 Financial assets

Cash and deposits

Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents, comprise 
cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those 
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 
three months or less, which are held for the purpose of 
meeting short term cash commitments rather than for 
investment purposes, and which are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash 
and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts, which are 
included as borrowings on the balance sheet.

Receivables

Receivables consist of:

 Ì statutory receivables, which include predominantly 
amounts owing from the Victorian Government and 
GST input tax credits recoverable; and 

 Ì contractual receivables, which include debtors in 
relation to goods and services, loans to third parties, 
accrued investment income, and finance lease 
receivables.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial 
instruments. Statutory receivables are not classified as 
financial instruments.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method, less an allowance for 
impairment.

A provision for doubtful receivables is made when there 
is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected 
and bad debts are written off when identified.

Investments and other financial assets

Investments are classified in the following categories: 

 Ì financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

 Ì loans and receivables;

 Ì held to maturity investments; and

 Ì available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition.

Any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset is 
recognised in the consolidated comprehensive operating 
statement as a transaction. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognised when:

 Ì the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

 Ì the Institute retains the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material delay to a third 
party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

 Ì the Institute has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset and either:

(a)  has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or

(b)  has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

Where the Institute has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred 
control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Institute’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Institute 
assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the 
debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 
days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings. All 
financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review 
for impairment.

Bad and doubtful debts for financial assets are assessed 
on a regular basis. Those bad debts considered as written 
off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction 
expense. Bad debts not written off by mutual consent 
and the allowance for doubtful receivables are classified 
as ‘other economic flows’ in the net result.
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The amount of the allowance is the difference between 
the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
effective interest rate.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) 
financial assets, which are not financial instruments, 
professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality 
using estimates, averages and other computational 
methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of 

Assets.

1.11 Leases

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of 
time in exchange for payment.

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating 
or finance leases based on the economic substance of 
the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Leases of property, plant and 
equipment are classified as finance infrastructure leases 
whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership from the lessor to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating leases

Institute as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed 
operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the 
net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, 
irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing 
of payments.

Institute as lessee

Operating lease payments, including any contingent 
rentals, are recognised as an expense in the 
comprehensive operating statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased 
asset. The leased asset is not recognised in the balance 
sheet. 

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed 
operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the 
net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, 
irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing 
of payments.    

1.12 Non-Financial Assets

Inventories

Inventories include goods and other property held either 
for sale or for distribution at a zero or nominal cost, 
or for consumption in the ordinary course of business 
operations. It includes land held-for-sale and excludes 
depreciable assets.

Inventories held-for-distribution are measured at cost, 
adjusted for any loss of service potential. All other 
inventories, including land held for sale, are measured 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories 
are acquired for no cost or nominal consideration, they 
are measured at current replacement cost at the date of 
acquisition.

Cost, includes an appropriate portion of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses. Cost is assigned to a 
land held for sale (undeveloped, under development, 
developed) and to other high value, low volume inventory 
items on a specific identification of cost basis. Cost for 
all other inventory is measured on the basis of weighted 
average cost.

The basis used in assessing loss of service potential 
for inventories held-for-distribution include current 
replacement cost and technical or functional 
obsolescence. Technical obsolescence occurs when an 
item still functions for some or all of the tasks it was 
originally acquired to do, but no longer matches existing 
technologies. Functional obsolescence occurs when an 
item no longer functions the way it did when it was first 
acquired.

Property, plant and equipment

All non-financial physical assets, are measured initially 
at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an 
asset is received for no or nominal consideration, the cost 
is the asset’s fair value at the date of acquisition.

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under a 
finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the 
inception of the lease.

Non-financial physical assets such as national parks, other 
Crown land and heritage assets are measured at fair value 
with regard to the property’s highest and best use after 
due consideration is made for any legal or constructive 
restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements 
or commitments made in relation to the intended use of 
the asset. Theoretical opportunities that may be available 
in relation to the asset are not taken into account until 
it is virtually certain that the restrictions will no longer 
apply.

The fair value of cultural assets and collections, heritage 
assets and other non-financial physical assets that 
the State intends to preserve because of their unique 
historical, cultural or environmental attributes, is 
measured at the replacement cost of the asset less, 
where applicable, accumulated depreciation (calculated 
on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed 
or expired future economic benefits of the asset) and 
any accumulated impairment. These policies and any 
legislative limitations and restrictions imposed on their 
use and/or disposal may impact their fair value.
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The fair value of infrastructure systems and plant, 
equipment and vehicles, is normally determined by 
reference to the asset’s depreciated replacement cost, or 
where the infrastructure is held by a for-profit entity, the 
fair value may be derived from estimates of the present 
value of future cash flows. For plant, equipment and 
vehicles, existing depreciated historical cost is generally 
a reasonable proxy for depreciated replacement cost 
because of the short lives of the assets concerned.

The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets 
includes the cost of all materials used in construction, 
direct labour on the project, and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overheads.

For the accounting policy on impairment of non-financial 
physical assets, refer to Note 1.08 on Impairment of non-
financial assets.

Leasehold improvements

The cost of a leasehold improvements is capitalised as 
an asset and depreciated over the remaining term of the 
lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements, 
whichever is the shorter.

Restrictive nature of cultural and heritage assets,  
Crown land and infrastructures

Certain agencies hold cultural assets, heritage assets, 
Crown land and infrastructure, which are deemed worthy 
of preservation because of the social rather than financial 
benefits they provide to the community. Consequently, 
there are certain limitations and restrictions imposed on 
their use and/or disposal.

Revaluations of non-financial physical assets

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value 
are revalued in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Directions (FRDs) issued by the Minister for Finance. A 
full revaluation normally occurs every five years, based 
upon the asset’s government purpose classification, but 
may occur more frequently if fair value assessments 
indicate material changes in values. Independent 
valuers are generally used to conduct these scheduled 
revaluations. Revaluation increases or decreases arise 
from differences between an asset’s carrying value and 
fair value.

Revaluation increases are credited directly to equity 
in the revaluation reserve, except to the extent that an 
increase reverses a revaluation decrease in respect of 
that class of property, plant and equipment, previously 
recognised as an expense (other economic flows) in the 
net result, the increase is recognised as income (other 
economic flows) in determining the net result.

Revaluation decreases are recognised immediately 
as expenses (other economic flows) in the net result, 
except to the extent that a credit balance exists in 
the revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of 
property, plant and equipment, they are debited to the 
revaluation reserve.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating 
to individual assets within a class of property, plant and 
equipment are offset against one another within that 
class but are not offset in respect of assets in different 
classes. 

Investment properties

Investment properties represent properties held to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment 
properties exclude properties held to meet service 
delivery objectives of the Institute.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost. 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised when it is probable that future economic 
benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance 
of the asset will flow to the Institute.

Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment 
properties are re-valued to fair value with changes in 
the fair value recognised as other economic flows in 
the comprehensive operating statement in the period 
in which they arise. Fair values are determined based 
on a market comparable approach that reflects recent 
transaction prices for similar properties. These properties 
are neither depreciated nor tested for impairment.

Rental income from the leasing of investment properties 
is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 
on a straight-line basis, over the lease term.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 
Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation/
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs 
incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised 
when it is expected that additional future economic 
benefits will flow to the Institute.

When recognition criteria AASB 138 Intangible Assets are 
met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised 
and measured at cost less accumulated depreciation/
amortisation and impairment.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which It is incurred. 

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from 
development (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following are demonstrated:

(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible 
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b) the intention to complete the intangible asset and 
use or sell it;

(c) the ability to use or sell the asset;

(d) the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic benefits;
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(e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and 
other resources to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible asset; and

(f) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the period as incurred.

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment, and are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows:

2015 2014

Capitalised software development cost 
(years)

10 10

All intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
depreciated or amortised, but are tested for impairment 
by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying 
amount:

(a) annually; and

(b) whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired.

Prepayments

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt 
of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in 
one accounting period covering a term extending beyond 
that period.     

1.13 Liabilities 

Payables

Payables consist of: 

 Ì contractual payables, such as accounts payable, 
and unearned income including deferred income 
from concession arrangements. Accounts payable 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Institute prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid, and arise when the Institute 
becomes obliged to make future payments in 
respect of the purchase of those goods and services; 
and

 Ì statutory payables, such as goods and services tax 
and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial 
instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at 
amortised cost.  Statutory payables are recognised and 
measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not 
classified as financial instruments and not included in the 
category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because 
they do not arise from a contract.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a 
present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can 
be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Employee benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees 
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

(i) Wages and salaries, and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits for annual leave, are all recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, 
because the Institute does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of 
settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, and annual 
leave are measured at:

 Ì undiscounted value - if the Institute expects to 
wholly settle within 12 months; or

 Ì present value (discounted value) - if the Institute 
does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

(ii) Long service leave

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements as a current liability, even where the 
Institute does not expect to settle the liability within 12 
months because it will not have the unconditional right 
to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an 
employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of the current LSL liability are measured 
at:

 Ì nominal value (undiscounted value) - component 
that is expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months; and

 Ì present value (discounted value) - component that is 
not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed a  non-current liability. 
There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the entitlement until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is 
measured at present value.
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Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present 
value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss 
arises due to changes in bond interest for which it is then 
recognised as an other economic flow.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when 
an employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in 
exchange for termination of employment. The Institute 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed to either terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan 
without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 
12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to 
present value.

Employee benefits on-costs

Provision for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers 
compensation and superannuation are recognised 
separately from the provision of employee benefits.

Performance Payments

Performance payments for the Institute’s Executive 
Officers are based on a percentage of the annual salary 
package provided under the contract of employment. A 
liability is provided for under the term of the contracts at 
reporting date and paid out in the next financial year.

Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial 
guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial guarantees

Payments that are contingent under financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised as a liability at the time the 
guarantee is issued. The liability is initially measured 
at fair value, and if there is a material increase in the 
likelihood that the guarantee may have to be exercised, 
then it is measured at the higher of the amount 
determined in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the 
amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, 
where appropriate.

The fair value of financial guarantee contracts has been 
assessed using the probability weighted discounted cash 
flow approach. The probability has been based on:

 Ì the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting in a 
year’s period;

 Ì the proportion of the exposure that is not expected 
to be recovered due to the guaranteed party 
defaulting; and

 Ì the maximum loss exposed if the guaranteed party 
were to default.

1.14 Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating 
and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are disclosed by way of note at their nominal 
value and inclusive of the GST payable. In addition, where it 
is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant 
information to users, the net present values of significant 
individual projects are stated. These future expenditures 
cease to be disclose as commitments once the related 
liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.

1.15 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by 
way of a note (refer to Note 17) and, if quantifiable, 
are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and 
liabilities are presented inclusive of the GST receivable or 
payable respectively.

1.16 Equity

Contributed capital 

Funding that are in the nature of contributions by the 
Victorian State government are treated as contributed 
capital when designated in accordance with UIG 
Interpretation 1038 Contribution by Owners Made to 
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities. Commonwealth 
capital funds are not affected and are treated as income.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative 
Transfers of net assets arising from administrative 
restructurings are treated as distributions to or 
contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities 
arising from administrative restructurings are treated as 
distribution to owners. 

1.17 Foreign currency translations 

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each group entity is measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which that entity operates. The Institute’s financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars which is 
the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.
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Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary 
items are translated at the year end exchange rate. Non-
monetary items measured at historical cost continue 
to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value 
are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair 
values were determined.

Foreign currency translation differences are recognised 
in other economic flows and accumulated in a separate 
component of equity, in the period in which they arise.

Group entities

The financial results and position of foreign operations 
whose functional currency is different from the group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows:

 Ì Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end 
exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date.

 Ì Income and expenses are translated at average 
exchange rates for the period.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 
operations are recognised as a separate component 
of equity. When a foreign operation is sold or any 
borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, 
a proportionate share of such exchange differences are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 
part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable. 

1.18 Materiality

In accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 108 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 

and Error, when an Australian Accounting Standard 
specifically applies to a transaction, other event or 
condition, the accounting policies applied to that item 
shall be determined by applying the Standard, unless the 
effect of applying them is immaterial. 

Accounting policies will be considered material if their 
omission or misstatement could, either individually or 
collectively, influence the economic decisions that users 
make on the basis of the financial statements.  Materiality 
depends on the size and nature of the omission or 
misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances.   

1.19 Rounding of amounts

Amounts in the financial report have been rounded to  
the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

1.20 Comparative information

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative 
figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

1.21 Change in accounting policy 
Subsequent to the 2014 reporting period, the following new 
and revised accounting standards have been adopted in the 
current period with their financial impact detailed as below. 

AASB 2015-7  Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Fair Value  

Disclosure of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities:

The Minister for Finance has approved the early adoption 
of AASB 2015-7. This enables Victorian not-for-profit 
public sector entities to benefit from some limited scope 
exemptions in relation to the fair value disclosure for the 
2014-15 reporting period. The Institute has chosen to apply 
this early adoption. For fair value measurements that have 
been categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, 
the Institute is no longer required to provide quantitative 
information about the ‘significant unobservable inputs’ 
used in determining the fair value measurement. 

1.22 New and revised AASBs in issue but not yet 
effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations 
have been published that are not mandatory for the 31 
December 2015 reporting period.

As at 31 December 2015 the following standards and 
interpretations (applicable to the Institute) had been 
issued but were not mandatory for financial year ending 
31 December 2015.  The Institute has not, and does not 
intend to, adopt these standards early.
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Standard/Interpretation Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 

beginning on Impact on public sector entity financial statements

AASB 9 Financial 

Instruments

The key changes include the 
simplified requirements for the 
classification and measurement 
of financial assets, a new hedging 
accounting model and a revised 
impairment loss model to recognise 
impairment losses earlier, as 
opposed to the current approach 
that recognises impairment only 
when incurred.

1-Jan-18 The assessment has identified that the financial 
impact of available for sale (AFS) assets will now be 
reported through other comprehensive income (OCI) 
and no longer recycled to the profit and loss.

While the preliminary assessment has not identified 
any material impact arising from AASB 9, it will 
continue to be monitored and assessed.

AASB 15 Revenue 

from Contracts with 

Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 
requires an entity to recognise 
revenue when the entity satisfies 
a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or 
service to a customer.

1-Jan-17

(Exposure 
Draft 263 
– potential 
deferral to 1 
Jan 2018)

The changes in revenue recognition requirements 
in AASB 15 may result in changes to the timing 
and amount of revenue recorded in the financial 
statements. The Standard will also require additional 
disclosures on service revenue and contract 
modifications.

A potential impact will be the upfront recognition of 
revenue from licenses that cover multiple reporting 
periods. Revenue that was deferred and amortised 
over a period may now need to be recognised 
immediately as a transitional adjustment against the 
opening returned earnings if there are no former 
performance obligations outstanding.

AASB 2014-1 
Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards [Part E 
Financial Instruments]

Amends various AASs to reflect 
the AASB’s decision to defer 
the mandatory application date 
of AASB 9 to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018 as a consequence 
of Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting, 
and to amend reduced disclosure 
requirements.

1-Jan-18 This amending standard will defer the application 
period of AASB 9 to the 2018-19 reporting period in 
accordance with the transition requirements.

AASB 2014-4 
Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Clarification 

of Acceptable Methods 

of Depreciation and 

Amortisation

[AASB 116 & AASB 138]

Amends AASB 116 Property, Plant 

and Equipment and AASB 138 

Intangible Assets to:

• Establish the principle for 

the basis of depreciation 

and amortisation as being 

the expected pattern of 

consumption of the future 

economic benefits of an asset;

1-Jan-16 The assessment has indicated that there is no 
expected impact as the revenue-based method is not 
used for depreciation and amortisation.

AASB 2015-6 
Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards – Extending 

Related Party 

Disclosures to Not-for-

Profit Public Sector 

Entities

[AASB 10, AASB 
124 & AASB 1049]

The Amendments extend the 
scope of AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures to not-for-profit 
public sector entities.  A guidance 
has been included to assist the 
application of the Standard by not-
for-profit public sector entities.

1-Jan-16 The amending standard will result in extended 
disclosures on the entity’s key management personnel 
(KMP), and the related party transactions.
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In addition to the new standards above, the AASB has 
issued a list of amending standards that are not effective 
for the 2015 reporting period (as listed below). In general, 
these amending standards include editorial and references 
changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on 
public sector reporting. The AASB Interpretation in the list 
below is also not effective for the 2015 reporting period and 
is considered to have insignificant impacts on public sector 
reporting.

 Ì AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010). 

 Ì AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments

 Ì AASB 2014 1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards [PART D – Consequential Amendments 
arising from AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
only] #

 Ì AASB 2014 3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in 
Joint Operations [AASB 1 & AASB 11]

 Ì AASB 2014 5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 15

 Ì AASB 2014 6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Agriculture: Bearer Plants [AASB 101, AASB 
116, AASB 117, AASB 123, AASB 136, AASB 140 & AASB 
141]

 Ì AASB 2014 7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

 Ì AASB 2014 8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – 
Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]

 Ì AASB 2015 2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 
101 [AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 & AASB 1049]

 Ì AASB 2015 3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality

 Ì AASB 2015 4 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Financial Reporting Requirements for 
Australian Groups with a Foreign Parent [AASB 127, 
AASB 128] #

 Ì AASB 2015 5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception [AASB 10, AASB 12, AASB 128] 
Note:

#  This Standard or Amendment may not be relevant to 
Victorian not-for-profit entities when operative.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 2 - Income from transactions

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(A) GRANTS AND OTHER TRANSFERS (OTHER THAN CONTRIBUTIONS BY 

OWNERS)

(i)  Government contributions - operating

State government - contestable 21,822 31,144

Other contributions by State Government 15,843 2,135

Total government contributions - operating 37,665 33,279

(ii) Government contributions - capital

State government 960 500

Total government contributions - capital 960 500

Total government contributions 38,625 33,779

(B) SALES OF GOODS AND SERVICES 

Student fees and charges 4,332 7,129

Rendering of services

Fee for service - Government 3,345 5,051

Fee for service - International operations - onshore - 15

Fee for service - Other 8,198 5,761

Total rendering of services 11,543 10,827

Other non-course fees and charges

Sale of goods 1,284 1,345

Total other fees and charges 1,284 1,345

Total revenue from sale of goods and services 17,159 19,301

(C) INTEREST 

Interest from financial assets not at fair value through P/L

Interest on bank deposits 519 918

Total interest revenue from financial assets not at fair value through P/L 519 918

Net interest income 519 918



54    |    GOTAFE 2015 ANNUAL REPORT

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(D) FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND SERVICES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE OR 
FOR NOMINAL CONSIDERATION

Assets

Buildings at fair value - 5,965

Total assets - 5,965

Total fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal 
consideration

- 5,965

(E) OTHER INCOME

Rental income

Investment properties 175 162

Other 289 190

Total rental revenue 464 352

Donations, bequests and contributions 32 32

Salary recoveries from external organisations 258 132

Hire of equipment, buildings and rooms 131 123

Other revenue 245 593

Total other income 1,130 1,232
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 3 - Expenses from transactions

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(A) EMPLOYEE EXPENSES

Salaries, wages, overtime and allowances 30,238 33,220

Superannuation 2,839 3,017

Payroll tax 1,611 1,762

Worker's compensation 212 172

Long service leave 680 14

Annual leave 638 (171)

Termination benefits 166 135

Other 511 338

Total employee expenses 36,895 38,487

(B) DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation of non-current assets

Buildings 3,001 2,904

Plant and equipment 634 652

Motor vehicles 591 661

Total depreciation 4,226 4,217

Amortisation of non-current physical and intangible assets

Software 411 410

Total amortisation 411 410

Total depreciation and amortisation 4,637 4,627

(C) GRANTS AND OTHER TRANSFERS (OTHER THAN CONTRIBUTIONS BY 
OWNERS)

Grants and subsidies apprentices and trainees - 54

Total grants and other transfers - 54
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(D) SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

Purchase of supplies and consumables 1,924 2,086

Communication expenses 716 847

Contract and other services 6,462 18,648

Cost of goods sold/distributed (ancillary trading) 272 255

Building repairs and maintenance 823 883

Fees and charges 1,759 1,798

Total supplies and services 11,956 24,517

(E) OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

General Expenses

Marketing and promotional expenses 748 810

Occupancy expenses 1,116 961

Audit fees and services 106 203

Staff development 367 140

Travel and motor vehicle expenses 828 887

Motor vehicle taxes 51 50

Other expenses 795 616

Insurances 175 156

Total other expenses 4,186 3,823

Operating lease rental expenses

Lease payments 558 373

Total operating lease rental expenses 558 373

Subtotal 4,744 4,196

Equipment below capitalisation threshold 179 244

Ex-gratia expense 69 -

Total other operating expenses 4,992 4,440



FINANCIAL REPORTS    |    57

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 4 - Other economic flows included in net result

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(A) NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (INCLUDING PPE AND  
INTANGIBLE ASSETS)

Impairment of property plant and equipment (including intangible assets) - (7,998)

Revaluation of non-current physical assets - 290

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35 25

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 35 (7,683)

(B) NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Impairment of 1:

Loans and receivables (539) (388)

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments (539) (388)

(C) OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) FROM OTHER ECONOMIC FLOWS

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability 2 (153) (108)

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (153) (108)

Notes

1  Including increase/(decrease) in provision for doubtful debts and bad debts from other economic flows – refer  

   to Note 1.

2  Revaluation gain/(loss) on the LSL liability due to the changes in the discount bond rates is included in other  

   economic flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 5 - Receivables

2015 
$000

2014 
$000

CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Contractual

Sale of goods and services 1 6,922 4,576

Provision for doubtful contractual receivables (See also Note 5(a) below) (1,155) (395)

Revenue receivable 3,603 3,549

Deposits and Bonds 1 33

Total contractual 9,371 7,763

Statutory

GST Input tax credit recoverable 276 265

Total statutory 276 265

Total current receivables 9,647 8,028

Total receivables 9,647 8,028

1  The average credit period for sales of goods and services and for other receivables is 30 days. Debts attributable to Victorian 
Government bodies that are outstanding greater than 30 days may be charged penalty interest in accordance with the Victorian 
Government’s Fair Payments Policy. A provision has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and 
services when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired.

(A) MOVEMENT IN THE PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL CONTRACTUAL 
RECEIVABLES 

2015 
$000

2014 
$000

Balance at beginning of the year (395)  (577)

Increase in provision due to transfers in/acquired outputs (353) -

Decrease in provision due to transfers out/disposed outputs 130 -

Increase in provision recognised in the net result (537) 182

Balance at end of the year (1,155)  (395)

(B) AGEING ANALYSIS OF CONTRACTUAL RECEIVABLES

Please refer to Note 20(ii) for the ageing analysis of contractual receivables.

(C) NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISK ARISING FROM CONTRACTUAL RECEIVABLES

Please refer to Note 20(ii) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from contractual receivables.
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Note 6 - Investments and other financial assets

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CURRENT INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  

Term Deposits 1:  

Australian dollar term deposits > three months 13,060 18,811

Total current investments and other financial assets 13,060 18,811

Total investments and other financial assets 13,060 18,811

Notes

1  Term deposits under ‘investments and other financial assets’ class include only term deposits with maturity greater  

   than 90 days.

(a) Ageing analysis of investments, loans and other financial assets
      Please refer to Note 20(ii) for the ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from investments, loans and other financial assets
  Please refer to Note 20(iii) for the nature and extent of risks arising from investments and other financial assets.

(c) Breach of Standing Direction
  Term deposits are invested with Rabobank. These investments do not comply with the Standing Directions from the  

  Department of Treasury and Finance (“the Standing Directions”), which require certain investments to be placed only  

  with the Treasury Corporation Victoria (TCV).  

  The Institute has initiated an account with TCV, and will commence transferring funds from Rabobank to TCV as each term  

  deposit reaches maturity. The term deposit portfolio with Rabobank has maturity dates ranging from April to August 2016.

Note 7 - Inventories

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CURRENT 

List type of inventories held

Supplies and consumables - at cost 8 7 

Work in progress - at cost 40 66 

Inventories held-for-sale

at cost 33 16 

Total current inventories 81 89
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 8 - Property, plant and equipment
In accordance with government purpose classifications, the Institute’s property, plant and equipment are assets used for the 
purpose of education. Property, plant and equipment includes all operational assets.

(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land at  
fair value Buildings

Assets under 
Construction 

Plant and 
Equipment

Motor 
Vehicles Total

At 1 January 2014 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost - - 1 - - 1

Valuation 12,803 120,081 - 15,898 2,895 151,677

Accumulated depreciation - (49,060) - (13,993) (1,518) (64,571)

Net book amount 12,803 71,021 1 1,905 1,377 87,107

Year ended 31 December 2014

Opening net book amount  12,803  66,865  1,280  2,022  1,952  84,922 

Additions  -    6,030  263  59  114  6,466 

Disposals  -    -    -    (36)  (28)  (64)

Transfers into/(out of) assets 
under construction

 -    1,030  (1,542)  512  -    -   

Depreciation expense 1  -    (2,904)  -    (652)  (661)  (4,217)

Closing net book amount  12,803  71,021  1  1,905  1,377  87,107 

At 31 December 2014

Cost  -    -    1  -    -    1 

Valuation  12,803  120,081  -    15,898  2,895  151,677 

Accumulated depreciation  -    (49,060)  -    (13,993)  (1,518)  (64,571)

Net book value at the end of the 
financial year

 12,803  71,021  1  1,905  1,377  87,107 

Year ended 31 December 2015

Opening net book amount 12,803 71,021 1 1,905 1,377 87,107

Additions - 15 1,546 16 - 1,577

Disposals - - - (21) (118) (139)

Transfers into/(out of) assets 
under construction

- 59 (1,106) 1,047 - -

Depreciation 1 - (3,001) - (634) (591) (4,226)

Closing net book amount 12,803 68,094 441 2,313 668 84,319

At 31 December 2015

Cost - - 441 - - 441

Valuation 12,803 120,156 - 12,398 2,561 147,918

Accumulated depreciation - (52,062) - (10,085) (1,893) (64,040)

Net book value at the end of the 
financial year

12,803 68,094 441 2,313 668 84,319

Notes        
1  The useful lives of assets as stated in Note 1 are used in the calculation of depreciation as shown in Note 3(b).

Restricted assets
The Institute does not hold any properties listed as heritage assets.



FINANCIAL REPORTS    |    61

(B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT HIERARCHY FOR ASSETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Fair value hierarchy

 
 
 
Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy,  
see Note 1 

Carrying 
amount as at 
31 December 

2015

Level 1 
Quoted 

prices

Level 2 
Observable 
price inputs

Level 3 
Un-observable 

inputs

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Land at fair value:

Specialised land 12,803 - - 12,803

Total of land at fair value 12,803 - - 12,803

Buildings at fair value:

Specialised buildings 68,094 - - 68,094

Total of buildings at fair value 68,094 - - 68,094

Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value:

Vehicles 1 668 - - 668

Plant and equipment 2,313 - - 2,313

Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 2,981 - - 2,981

Notes

There were no transfers between Levels during the year.

(C) VALUATIONS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fair value assessments have been performed at 31 December 2015 for all classes of assets. This assessment demonstrated 
that fair value was materially similar to carrying value, and therefore a full revaluation was not required this year. The next 
scheduled full revaluation for this purpose will be conducted by the Institute in 2017.

Specialised land and specialised buildings 

The market approach is also used for specialised land, although is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) 
to reflect the specialised nature of the land being valued. 

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to 
the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest and best use 
consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, 
legally permissible, and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, 
specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.

For the Institute’s majority of specialised buildings, the depreciated replacement cost method is used, adjusting for 
the associated depreciations. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant, unobservable inputs in nature, 
specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 fair value measurements. 

An independent valuation of the Institute’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer 
General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the 
valuation is 31 December 2014.

Vehicles

Vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method. The Institute acquires new vehicles and at times 
disposes of them before the end of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is 
managed by experienced fleet managers in the Institute who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the 
utilisation of the vehicles. 

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold  
other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.  

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2015.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
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(D) RECONCILIATION OF LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Specialised 
land

Specialised 
buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance  12,803 71,021 1,905 1,377

Purchases (sales)  -   74 (5) (118)

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 - - 1,047 -

Depreciations  -   (3,001) (634) (591)

Closing balance  12,803 68,094 2,313 668

(E) DESCRIPTION OF SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS TO LEVEL 3 VALUATIONS

Valuation 

technique 

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

Range (weighted 

average) 

Sensitivity of fair value measurement to changes in 

significant unobservable inputs

Specialised 
land Market approach

Community 
Service 
Obligation 
(CSO)  
adjustment

10 - 20% (17%) 1
A significant increase or decrease in the CSO adjustment 
would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value.

Specialised 
buildings Depreciated 

replacement cost

Direct cost per 
square metre

$150 - $4,500/m2 

($1,930)

A significant increase or decrease in direct cost per square 
metre adjustment would result in a significantly higher or 
lower fair value.

Useful life of 
specialised 
buildings

40 years
A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful 
life of the asset would result in a significantly higher or lower 
valuation.

Plant and 
equipment

Depreciated 
replacement cost

Cost per unit
$5,000 - $217,000 
per unit  
($23,700 per unit)

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would 
result in a significantly higher or lower fair value.

Useful life plant 
and equipment

3-7 years (5 years)
A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful 
life of the asset would result in a significantly higher or lower 
valuation.

Motor 
vehicles

Depreciated 
replacement cost

Cost per unit
$20,500 - $85,000 
per unit  
($30,200 per unit)

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would 
result in a significantly higher or lower fair value.

Useful life of 
vehicles

4 years
A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful 
life of the asset would result in a significantly higher or lower 
valuation.

Notes       

1  CSO adjustments ranging from 10 per cent to 20 per cent were applied to reduce the market approach value  

  for the Institute’s specialised land, with the weighted average 17 per cent reduction applied.



FINANCIAL REPORTS    |    63

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 9 - Investment Properties

(A) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

AT FAIR VALUE

Opening balance at 1 January 1,990  1,700 

Net gain/ (loss) from fair value adjustments - 290 

Closing balance at 31 December 1,990  1,990 

(B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT HIERARCHY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Fair value hierarchy

Classified in accordance with 
the fair value hierarchy, see 
Note 1

Carrying amount as 
at 31 December 2014

$’000

Level 1

Quoted prices

$’000

Level 2

Observable price 
inputs

$’000

Level 3

Un-observable 
inputs

$’000

Shepparton 890 - 890 -

Seymour 1,100 - 1,100 -

Total 1,990 - 1,990 -

There were no transfers between Levels during the year.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2014.

The fair value of the Institute’s investment properties at 31 December 2014 have been arrived at on the basis of an independent 
valuation carried out by independent valuers, Opteon Pty. Ltd. The valuation was determined by reference to market evidence of 
transaction prices for similar properties with no significant unobservable adjustments, in the same location and condition and subject 
to similar lease and other contracts.  

(C) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT HIERARCHY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Fair value hierarchy

Classified in accordance with 
the fair value hierarchy, see 
Note 1

Carrying amount as 
at 31 December 2015

$’000

Level 1

Quoted prices

$’000

Level 2

Observable price 
inputs

$’000

Level 3

Un-observable 
inputs

$’000

Shepparton 890 - 890 -

Seymour 1,100 - 1,100 -

Total 1,990 - 1,990 -

There were no transfers between Levels during the year.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2015.

The fair value of the Institute’s investment properties at 31 December 2015 have been arrived at on the basis of an independent 

valuation carried out by independent valuers, Opteon Pty Ltd.  The valuation was determined by reference to market evidence of 

transaction prices for similar properties with no significant unobservable adjustments, in the same location and condition and subject 

to similar lease and other contracts. 
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Note 10 - Intangible Assets

Software
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended 31 December 2014

Gross carrying amount 12,103 12,103

Opening balance 12,103 12,103

Closing balance 12,103 12,103

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Opening balance - -

Depreciation of intangible produced assets 1  (410)  (410)

Impairment losses charged to net result 2  (7,998)  (7,998)

Closing balance  (8,408)  (8,408)

Net book value at the end of the financial year  3,695  3,695 

Software
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended 31 December 2015

Gross carrying amount 12,103 12,103

Opening balance 12,103 12,103

Closing balance 12,103 12,103

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Opening balance (8,408) (8,408)

Depreciation of intangible produced assets 1  (411)  (411)

Closing balance (8,819) (8,819)

Net book value at the end of the financial year  3,284  3,284 

Notes
1  The consumption of intangible produced assets is included in ‘depreciation’ line item, where the consumption of the intangible  
   non produced assets is included in ‘net gain/(loss) on non financial assets’ line item on the comprehensive operating statement.
2  Impairment losses are included in the line item ‘net gain/(loss) on non financial assets’ in the comprehensive operating statement.

Significant intangible assets

The Institute has capitalised its share of the development cost of its Student Management System (SMS) software.   
The development cost was charged to the Institute by the Department of Education and Early Childhood Development (DEECD) of the 
Victorian Government late in December 2013 as a Capital Contribution. The charge was made by  
DEECD to the Institute in proportion to the 2012 Equivalent Full Time Student numbers of the nine participating Institutes.  The SMS 
software was installed as at 31 December 2013, with no amortisation charged for 2013.

The Institute has undertaken a managerial valuation to determine a fair value of the software to the Institute.  The valuation was based 
on information supplied by the software developer and resulted in a significant impairment loss disclosed above. The valuation was 
applied as at 1 January 2014 with depreciation charged at a rate of 10% from that date. 

The useful life of the SMS software was determined as ten years and it will be fully amortised in 2023.
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Note 11 - Other non-financial Assets

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CURRENT OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Prepayments 865 426

Total current other non-financial assets 865 426

NON-CURRENT OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Prepayments 11 -

Total non-current other financial assets 11 -

Total other non-financial assets 876 426

Note 12 - Payables

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CURRENT

Contractual

Supplies and services 1 2,266  2,594

Revenue in advance 35 74

Other employee entitlements payable within 12 months 978 540

Total 3,279  3,208 

Statutory

GST payable 339  467 

FBT payable 55 65

Total current payables 3,673  3,740 

Notes     

1  The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on payables.  

(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables

      Please refer to Note 20(iii) for the maturity analysis of contractual payables.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables

      Please refer to Note 20(iii) for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables.   
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Note 13 - Provisions

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CURRENT PROVISIONS

Employee benefits (Note 13(a)) 1

Annual leave (Note 13(a)):

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months 2 1,592 1,609

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months 2 295 186

Long service leave (Note 13(a)):

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months 2 169 155

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months 2 3,302 2,896

5,358  4,846 

Provisions for on costs (Note 13(a) and Note 13(b)):

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months 2 307  262 

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months 2 626  457

933 719 

Total current provisions 6,291  5,565 

NON-CURRENT

Employee benefits (Note 14(a) and Note 14(b))1 735  988

On costs (Note 14(a) and Note 14(b)) 128 147 

Total non-current provisions 863  1,135 

Total provisions 7,154  6,700 

Notes    

1  Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On costs such as payroll tax and 

workers’ compensation insurance are not employee benefits and are reflected as a separate provision.   

2  Amounts are measured at present values.    
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(A) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND ON COSTS 1

Current employee benefits

Annual leave 1,887  1,795 

Long service leave 3,471 3,051 

5,358  4,846 

Non current employee benefits

Long service leave 735 988

Total employee benefits and on costs 6,093 5,834

Current on costs 933 719

Non current on costs 128 147

Total on costs 1,061 866

Total employee benefits and on costs 7,154 6,700

Notes     
1  Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On costs such as payroll tax and workers’  
   compensation insurance are not employee benefits and are recognised as a separate provision. 

2015 
$’000

On-costs Total

(B(I)) MOVEMENT IN PROVISIONS

Opening balance 866 866

Additional provisions recognised 297 297

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits (124) (124)

Effect of changes in the discount rate 22 22

Closing balance 1,061 1,061

Current 933 933

Non-current 128 128

1,061 1,061

Note 14 - Reserves
2015 

$’000
2014 

$’000

(a) Physical asset revaluation surplus 1:

Balance at 1 January 46,298  46,298 

Net changes in reserves 46,298 46,298   

Notes

1  The physical assets revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of land and buildings.  
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Note 15 - Cash flow information

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(A) RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Total cash and deposits disclosed in the balance sheet 1 11,736 6,164

Balance as per cash flow statement 11,736 6,164

Notes
1  The Institute does not hold a large cash reserve in its bank accounts, but due to timing of funding received from the Department of 
Education and Training in late December has substantially increased the cash holdings balance at year end. An account with Treasury 
Corporation of Victoria (TVC) is currently being initiated to have these excess funds transferred and invested accordingly. Cash received 
by the Institute from the generation of income is generally paid into the Institute’s bank accounts. Similarly, any Institute expenditure, 
including those in the form of cheques drawn by the Institute for the payment of goods and services to its suppliers and creditors are 
made via the Institute’s bank accounts.

 

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(B) RECONCILIATION OF NET RESULT FOR THE PERIOD

Net result for the year (1,704)  (19,109) 

Non cash movements:

(Gain)/loss on sale or disposal of non current assets (35)  (25)

(Gain)/loss on revaluation of investment property -  (290)

Depreciation and amortisation of non current assets 4,637 4,627 

Impairment of non current assets - 7,998   

Resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration - (5,965)

Forgiveness of liabilities -  (182)

Net (gain)/loss on financial instruments 539 388

Movements in assets and liabilities:

Decrease / (increase) in trade receivables (2,158)  6,948

Decrease / (increase) in inventories 8 9

Decrease / (increase) in other assets (449) 110

Increase / (decrease) in payables (67)  (6,914)

Increase / (decrease) in employee benefits 453  (192)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 1,224  (12,597)
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Note 16 - Commitments for expenditure

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(A) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS PAYABLE

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as 

liabilities is as follows: 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Payable:

Within one year 1,964  2,300 

Later than one year but no later than five years 3,671  2,846 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 5,635  5,146 

GST reclaimable on the above (512)  (468)

Net Commitments Property, Plant and Equipment 5,123  4,678 

Total capital expenditure commitments 5,123  4,678 

(B) NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS PAYABLE 1

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable 

operating leases are payable as follows:

Within one year 234  217 

Later than one year but not later than five years 672 16

Total minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases 906 233

GST reclaimable on the above (82)  (21)

Net Commitments Non-cancellable Operating Leases 824 212

(C) OTHER EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Commitments for operating expenses in existence at the reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 291 597

Total other expenditure commitments 291 597

GST reclaimable on the above (26)  (54)

Net commitments other expenditure commitments 265 543

Notes
1 Operating leases

Properties

The Institute, as lessee, leases land at Wangaratta, and building floor space at Terang, Warragul, Leongatha and Cranbourne.

Equipment

The Institute contracts for photocopier materials usage on a per copy basis.    
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Note 17 - Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent assets and  

contingent liabilities are as follows:

Contingent Assets

Compensation - Loss of value to property and the purpose of water shares 368  383 

Total estimated contingent assets 368 383 

Notes

Contingent Assets

Goulburn Murrway Water (GMW) first approached the Institute in June 2013 regarding the property at William Orr Campus, 260 Wanganui 
Road, Shepparton and relinquishing the water rights attached to that property as part of the GMW Connections Project.  After completing 
these negotiations and the required documentation, GMW compensated the Institute in February 2015 for $187,000 for relinquishing these 
rights, this was based on provision of alternative water supply.

Instead, the Institute decided to go to market in October 2015, using a specialist broker, and received an offer of $368,330 well above that 
offered by GMW at $212,850. However the offer is subject to the Minister’s approval as it is in the Ministers name.  It now expected that this 
will be finalised in 2016.

Contingent Liabilities 

There were no contingent liabilities in 2014.

Note 18 - Leases

(I) OPERATING LEASES - INSTITUTE AS LESSEE

Refer to Note 16 (Commitments for expenditure).

(II) OPERATING LEASES - INSTITUTE AS LESSOR

Properties

The Institute leases out certain land and buildings, which are excess to current requirements, at current market rates.

Equipment

The Institute contracts for photocopier materials usage on a per copy basis.

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE RECEIVABLES

Payments due:

Within one year 396  381 

Later than one year and not later than five years 244  84 

Total non-cancellable operating lease receivables 640  465 

GST payable on the above (58)  (42)

Net operating leases receivables 582  423 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 19 - Superannuation

Employees of the Institute are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Institute contributes to both defined 
benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final 
average salary.

The Institute does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because the entity has no legal 
or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation 
contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance recognises and discloses the State’s defined 
benefit liabilities in its financial statements.

However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Institute.

The name and details of the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by the Institute are as follows:

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

PAID CONTRIBUTION FOR THE YEAR

Defined benefit plans:

State Superannuation Fund - revised and new 104 151

Total defined benefit plans 104 151

Defined contribution plans:

VicSuper 1,585 1,706

Other 1,140 1,137

Total defined contribution plans 2,725 2,843

Total paid contribution for the year 2,829 2,994

CONTRIBUTION OUTSTANDING AT YEAR END

Defined contribution plans:

Other than VicSuper - 23

Total defined contribution plans - 23

Total 2,829 3,017

Notes

1.  The Institute does not have any contributions outstanding to the above funds and there have been no loans made from the funds.  

    The bases for contributions are determined by the various schemes. 

2. The above amounts were measured as at 31 December of each year, or in the case of employer contributions they relate to the  

    years ended 31 December.  



72    |    GOTAFE 2015 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 20 - Financial Instruments

(I) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES.

The Institute’s principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory 
receivables), payables (excluding statutory payables) and operating leases.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and 
financial liability is disclosed in Note 1 of the financial statements.

The Institute’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate 
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Institute’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Institute by adhering to appropriate business 
principles. The Institute does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. 

Risk management is carried out by the Institute under policies approved by the Board, coordinating access to financial 
markets, monitoring and managing the financial risks relating to the operation of the Institute. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, including investment of excess liquidity.

The carrying amounts of the Institute’s contractual financial assets and financial liabilities by category are disclosed below:

Note 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CARRYING AMOUNT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(a) Loans and receivables

Cash and deposits 15 11,736 6,164

Recievables1:

Trade receivables 5 5,767 4,181

Revenue receivables 5 3,603 3,549

Other receivables 5 1 33

Investment and other financial assets:

Term Deposits 6 13,060 18,811

Total receivables 34,167 32,738

Total financial assets 34,167 32,738

(b) Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Payables1:

Supplies and services 12 2,266 2,594

Other employee entitlements payable within 12 months 12 978 540

Revenue in advance 12 35 74

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,279 3,208

Total financial liabilities 3,279 3,208

Note     

1  Receivables and payables disclosed here exclude statutory receivables and statutory payables (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian  

   Government, GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).

   The Institute had no net holding gains or losses of contractual financial assets and financial liabilities during 2013 and 2014.
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Note 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

(c) Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Financial assets - loans and receivables 4(b) (539) (388)

Net holding gain/(loss) - financial assets (539) (388)

Total financial liabilities (539) (388)

(II) CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Institute, which comprise cash and deposits, non-statutory 
receivables, available-for-sale contractual financial assets and derivative instruments. The Institute’s exposure to credit 
risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Institute.  

Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis by the Institute’s Board.  The Board monitors 
credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counterparties.

The Institute monitors credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counterparties:

 Ì only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ rating are utilised;

 Ì all potential customers are rated for credit worthiness taking into account their size, market position and financial 
standing; and

 Ì customers that do not meet the group’s strict credit policies may only purchase in cash or using recognised credit 
cards.

The Institute does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under 
financial instruments entered into by the Institute.

The trade receivables balance at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 do not include any counter parties with 
external credit ratings. Customers are assessed for credit worthiness using the criteria detailed above.

The Institute minimises credit risk in relation to student loans receivable by direct debit agreements entered into with 
students who are unable to pay fees at the time of enrolment. 

In addition, the Institute does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual 
financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank. The Institute’s policy is  
to only deal with banks with high credit ratings. 

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Institute 
will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, 
debts which are more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

The carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently the Institute does not 
hold any collateral as security nor credit enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.

There has been no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
credit risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
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CREDIT QUALITY OF CONTRACTUAL 
FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT ARE NEITHER PAST 
DUE NOR IMPAIRED 1 

Financial 
institutions 

(AA2 rating)

Government 
agencies 

(AAA rating)

Other 
counter-party

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015

Cash and deposits 11,731 - 5 11,736

Receivables - - 9,371 9,371

Investments and other financial assets 13,060 - - 13,060

Total contractual financial assets 2015 24,791 - 59,376 34,167

2014

Cash and deposits 6,164 -  5  6,169 

Receivables - -  7,763    7,763 

Investments and other financial assets  18,811 -  -    18,811 

Total contractual financial assets 2013 24,975 -  7,768  32,743 

Note        
1 The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian Government,  
  GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).

Ageing analysis of financial assets

There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or 
impaired, and they are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. The following table discloses the ageing analysis  
for the Institute’s financial assets.

Carrying  
amount

Not past  
due and 
not im-
paired

Past due but not impaired Impaired  
financial  

assets<  1  
month

1 - 3 
months

3 - 12 
months

1 - 5  
years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015 Financial assets

Receivables1:

Trade receivables 6,922 2,216 171 427 2,953 - 1,155

Revenue receivables 3,603 2,726 - 227 377 273 -

Other receivables 1 - - - - 1 -

Investment & other financial assets:

Term deposits 13,060 - - - 13,060 - -

Total 2015 financial assets 23,586 4,942 171 654 16,390 274 1,155

2014 Financial assets

Receivables1:

Trade receivables  4,576  1,072  181  978  1,657 293  395 

Revenue receivables  3,549  3,549  -    -    -    -    -   

Other receivables 33 33

Investment and other financial assets:

Term deposits  18,811  -    -  -  18,811  -    -   

Total 2014 financial assets  26,969  4,621  181  978  20,468  326  395 

Note       
1 Receivables and payables disclosed here exclude statutory receivables and statutory payables (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian 

Government, GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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(III) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Institute would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.   
The Institute operates under payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, 
making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The Institute’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face of 
the balance sheet. 

The responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Institute’s governing body, which has built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity 
requirements. The Institute manages liquidity risk by:

 Ì maintaining an adequate level of reserves and uncommitted funds that can be drawn at short notice to meet its 
short-term obligations;

 Ì holding investments and other contractual financial assets that are readily tradeable in the financial markets; and

 Ì careful maturity planning of its financial obligations by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities, and monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

The Institute’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of 
risk. Cash for unexpected events is generally sourced from Cash deposits and Investments.

There has been no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
liquidity risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.    
 

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities

The carrying amount detailed in the following table of contractual financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
represents the Institute’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for the Institute’s financial liabilities.    
  

Carrying  
amount

Nominal 
amount

Maturity dates

Less than  
1 month

1 - 3 
 months

3 - 12 
months 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015 Financial liabilities

Payables1:

Supplies and services 2,266 2,265 - - 1

Other employee entitlements payable 
within 12 months

978 978 - - -

Revenue in advance 35 35 - - -

Total 2015 financial liabilities 3,279 3,278 - - 1

2014 Financial liabilities 

Payables1:

Supplies and services  2,594  2,540  33  11  10 

Other employee entitlements payable 
within 12 months

 540  540  -    -    -   

Revenue in advance  74  74  -    -    -   

Total 2014 financial liabilities  3,208  3,154  33  11  10 

Note      
1  Receivables and payables disclosed here exclude statutory receivables and statutory payables (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian  

  Government, GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).    
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(IV) MARKET RISK

The Institute in its daily operations is exposed to a number of market risks. Market risks relate to the risk that market 
rates and prices will change and that this will have an adverse affect on the operating result and/or net worth of the 
Institute. e.g. an adverse movement in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates.

The Institute’s exposures to market risk are primarily through foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. Objectives, 
policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed below.

The Board ensures that all market risk exposure is consistent with the Institute’s business strategy and within the risk 
tolerance of the Institute. Regular risk reports are presented to the Board.

There has been no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
market risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Foreign currency risk 

The Institute is exposed to foreign currency risk mainly through the delivery of services in currencies other than the 
Australian Dollar and payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas.  There is a limited 
amount of transactions denominated in foreign currencies and a relatively short timeframe between commitment and 
settlement.

There has been no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
foreign currency risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the potential for a change in interest rates to change the expected net interest earnings in 
the current reporting period and in future years, or cause a fluctuation in the fair value of the financial instruments.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Institute does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair 
value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.     

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Institute has some exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits that 
are at floating rate. 

The Institute manages cash flow interest rate risk through a mixture of short term and longer term investments, and 
undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments with relatively even maturity profiles, with only 
insignificant amounts of financial instruments at floating rate. Management monitors movement in interest rates on a 
regular basis.

There has been no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Institute’s year 
end result.

The Institute’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities  
are set out in the financial instrument composition and maturity analysis table below. 
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Weighted 
average  

effective 
rate

Total Carry-
ing Amount 
per Balance 

Sheet

Interest rate exposure

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT COMPOSITION  
AND INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE

2015

Floating  
interest rate

Fixed  
interest rate

Non-Interest  
Bearing

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 2.23% 11,736 11,731 5

Receivables1:

Trade receivables 5,767 5,767

Revenue receivables 3,603 3,603

Other receivables 1 1

Investment and other financial assets:

Term deposits 2.83% 13,060 13,060

Total financial assets 34,167 11,731 13,060 9,376

Financial liabilities 

Payables1:

Supplies and services 2,266 2,266

Other employee entitlements payable 
within 12 months

978 978

Revenue in advance 35 35

Total financial liabilities - 3,279 - - 3,279

Weighted 
average  

effective 
rate

Total Carry-
ing Amount 
per Balance 

Sheet

Interest rate exposure

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT COMPOSITION  
AND INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE

2014

Floating  
interest rate

Fixed  
interest rate

Non-Interest  
Bearing

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 2.46%  6,164  6,159  -    5 

Receivables1:

Trade receivables  -    4,181  -    -    4,181 

Revenue receivables  -    3,549  -    -    3,549 

Other receivables - 33 - - 33

Investment and other financial assets:

Term deposits 3.27%  18,811  -    18,811  -   

Total financial assets  32,738  6,159  18,811  7,768 

Financial liabilities 

Payables1:

Supplies and services  2,594  -    -    2,594 

Other employee entitlements payable 
within 12 months

 540  -    -    540 

Revenue in advance  74  -    -    74 

Total financial liabilities   3,208  -    -    3,208 

Note       

1  Receivables and payables disclosed here exclude statutory receivables and statutory payables (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian  

  Government, GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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(V) SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS AND ASSUMPTIONS     

The Institute’s sensitivity to market risk is determined based on the observed range of historical data. The Institute’s 
fund managers cannot be expected to predict movements in market rates and prices. Sensitivity analyses shown are for 
illustrative purposes only. The following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ over the next 12 months: 

 Ì a movement of 50 basis points up and down (2014: 50 basis points up and down) in market interest rates (AUD);

The following tables show the impact on the Institute’s net result and equity for each category of financial instrument 
held by the Institute at the end of the reporting period, if the above movement was to occur.    
 

Carrying  
amount

$’000

Interest rate risk

-50 basis points +50 basis points

Result Equity Result Equity

31 December 2015 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 11,731 (59) (59) 59 59

Receivables 1 9,371 - - - -

Investments 13,060 (65) (65) 65 65

Total increase/(decrease) in financial assets 34,162 (124) (124) 124 124

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables 1 3,279 - - - -

Total increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities 3,279 - - - -

Total increase/ (decrease) 37,441 (124) (124) 124 124

Carrying  
amount

$’000

Interest rate risk

-50 basis points +50 basis points

Result Equity Result Equity

31 December 2014 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits  6,164  (31)  (31)  31  31 

Receivables 1  7,763  -    -    -    -   

Investments  18,811  (94)  (94)  94  94 

Total increase/(decrease) in financial assets  32,738  (125)  (125)  125  125 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables 1  3,208  -    -    -    -   

Total increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities  3,208  -    -    -    -   

Total increase/ (decrease)  35,946  (125)  (125)  125  125 

Note      
1  Receivables and payables disclosed here exclude statutory receivables and statutory payables (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian  

   Government, GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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(VI) FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 

Fair values of financial instrument asset and liabilities are determined using the fair value hierarchy that categorises the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three levels based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable.

 Ì Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the Institute can access at the measurement date.

 Ì Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

 Ì Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The Institute considers that the carrying amount of trade receivables and payables is a reasonable approximation of their 
fair values due to the short-term nature of trade receivables and payables.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value, 
and based on credit history it is expected that the receivables that are neither past due nor impaired will be received 
when due.

For other assets and other liabilities the fair value approximates their carrying value. Financial assets where the carrying 
amount exceeds fair values have not been written down as the Institute intends to hold these assets to maturity. 

The carrying amounts and aggregate net fair values of financial assets and liabilities at balance date are:   
  

2015 2014

Financial assets

Carrying 
amount

$’000

Net fair 
value

$’000

Carrying 
amount

$’000

Net fair value

$’000

Cash and deposits 11,731 11,731  6,164  6,164 

Receivables1:

Trade receivables 5,767 5,767 4,181 4,181

Revenue receivables 3,603 3,603  3,549  3,549 

Other receivables 1 1 33 33

Investment and other financial assets: 

Term Deposits 13,060 13,060  18,811  18,811 

Total financial assets 34,162 34,162  32,738  32,738 

Financial liabilities

Payables1:

Supplies and services 2,266 2,266  2,594  2,594 

Other employee entitlements payable within 12 
months

978 978  540  540 

Revenue in advance 35 35  74  74 

Total financial liabilities 3,279 3,279  3,208  3,208 

Note       
1  Receivables and payables disclosed here exclude statutory receivables and statutory payables (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian  
  Government, GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable). 

The Institute did not have any financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value as at 31 December 

2015.     
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 21 - Responsible persons and executive officers

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, 
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons and executive officers for the reporting period.

(I) MINISTER

The relevant Minister was The Hon. Steve Herbert, MP, Minister for Training and Skills. 

Remuneration of the Minister for Training and Skills is disclosed in the financial report of the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet. Other relevant interests are declared in the Register of Members’ interests which is completed by each member 
of the Parliament.           

(II) CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER)

Mr Paul Culpan, Chief Executive Officer

Remuneration received or receivable by the chief executive officer in connection with the management of the Institute 
during the reporting period was in the range $250,001 - $260,000 (2014: $240,001 - $250,000).    
 

(III) MEMBERS OF THE BOARD       

Director and Chairperson - Mr Michael Tehan, Ministerial Nominee 

Director - Mr Adam Furphy, Ministerial Nominee - (1st January to 28th February 2015)  

Director - Ms Lisbeth Long, Ministerial Nominee - (1st January to 31st May 2015) 

Director - Mr Christopher McPherson, Ministerial Nominee - (1st January to 31st March 2015)   

Director - Ms Rebecca Woolstencroft, Board Nominee - (1st January to 31st May 2015)

Director - Ms Rebecca Woolstencroft, Board Nominee - (Re-appointed 1st December 2015)

Director - Ms Joanne Dwyer, Board Nominee

Director - Mr Jonathan Koop, Board Nominee

Director - Mr David McKinnon, Board Nominee    

Director - Mr Rodney Schubert, Ministerial Nominee   

Director - Dr Christine Cunningham, Ministerial Nominee - (Appointed 1st December 2015)

Director - Mr Mark O’Sullivan, Ministerial Nominee - (Appointed 1st December 2015)

Director - Mr Damian Trezise, Ministerial Nominee - (Appointed 1st December 2015)

Remuneration of the Board members in connection with the management of the Institute are disclosed below.  

INCOME RANGE 2015 No. 2014 No.

The number of Board members whose remuneration from the Institute was within 
the specified bands are as follows:

Less than $10,000 5 2

$10,001 - $20,000 2 1

$20,001 - $30,000 4 6

$40,001 - $50,000 1 1

Total number of Board members 12 10

Total remuneration of board members ($’000) 234 241
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
2015 

$’000
2014 

$’000

Mr Michael Tehan

Purchase or sale of goods and services 17 17

Mr Christopher McPherson  

Purchase or sale of goods and services 5 45

Mr Damian Trezise  

Purchase or sale of goods and services 22 -

Mr Jonathan Koop  

Purchase or sale of goods and services 37 36

Mr Robert Schubert  

Purchase or sale of goods and services 66 93

Total amount  147 191

(IV) EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities  
of Institute during the financial year:

Mr Paul Culpan, Chief Executive Officer

Mr Thomas Pamminger, General Manager Corporate Services/Board Secretary 

Ms Margaret Fixter, General Manager Education

Mr Albert Amadei, Executive Manager

Mr Peter Carkeek, Executive Manager

Ms Leisa Clarke, Executive Manager (1st January 2015 to 27th March 2015)

Ms Simone Lambert, Executive Manager (Appointed 10th November 2015)

Ms Louise Pearce, Executive Manager

Mr Andrew Powell, Executive Manager

Mr Kenneth McLennan, Executive Manager      
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Remuneration of executive officers       

The number of executive officers, including the chief executive officer, and their total remuneration during the reporting 
period are shown in the first two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands.

The base remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and fourth columns.  Base remuneration is exclusive of 
bonus payments, long service leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits. 

The total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent executive offices over the reporting 
period.        

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

INCOME RANGE
2015 

No.
2014 

No.
2015  

No.
2014 

No.

The number of executive officers whose total remuneration from the 
Institute exceeded $100,000, separately identifying base remuneration and 
total remuneration, disclosed within the income band of $10,000 in a table 
format:

$20,001 - $30,000 - - 1 -

$30,001 - $40,000 - - 1 -

$40,001 - $50,000 1 2 - 2

$100,001 - $110,000 1 - - -

$120,001 - $130,000 - 1 3 1

$130,001 - $140,000 1 2 1 2

$140,001 - $150,000 3 2 - 3

$150,001 - $160,000 - 1 1 1

$160,001 - $170,000 - - 1 -

$170,001 - $180,000 1 1 - -

$180,001 - $190,000 - - 1 -

$190,001 - $200,000 1 - - -

$200,001 - $210,000 1 - - -

$230,001 - $240,000 - - 1 -

$240,001 - $250,000 - 1 - 1

$280,001 - $290,000 1 - - -

Total number of executive officers 10 10 10 10

Total annualised employee equivalent (AEE) 8.37 8.14 8.37 8.14

Total amount of remuneration ($'000) 1,569 1,339 1,316 1,305

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
2015 

$’000
2014 

$’000

Mr P Culpan

Purchase or sale of goods and services 2 5

Contribution to operation activity 102 172

Ms L Clarke

Purchase or sale of goods and services 1 126

Ms L Pearce

Purchase or sale of goods and services 2 -

Total amount  107 303
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 22 - Related parties

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Related parties disclosures are set out in Note 21 (Responsible persons and executive officers).

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

(A) RELATED PARTIES 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Sale of goods and services

Training, venue hire and sponsorship 8 48

Total sale of goods and services 8 48

Purchase of goods and services

Operational services 39 178

Training 59 52

Sponsorship and media advertising 19 18

Internet services 27 26

Contribution to operation activity 102 172

Total purchase of goods and services 246 446

No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been 
recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.     

Outstanding balances

The following balances included in the transactions with related parties are outstanding at the reporting date:

(B) RELATED PARTIES 2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Current receivables (sale of goods and services)

Related parties - 5

Total current receivables - 5

Current payables (purchases of goods and services)

Related parties  2 25

Total current payables  2 25

No provision for doubtful debts has been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been 
recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties. 
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Note 23 - Ex-gratia expenses

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Compensation for economic loss 69 -

69 -

Note 24 - Remuneration of auditors

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Remuneration of Victorian Auditor General’s Office for:

Audit of the financial statements 23 23

Total remuneration of Victoria Auditor General’s Office 23 23

Remuneration of other auditors

Continuous audits, qualifications audits and grant acquittals 83 180

Total remuneration of other auditors 83 180

Total Remuneration of auditors 106 203

Note 25 - Subsequent events

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Institute, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Institute in 
future financial years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 26 - Economic dependency

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Where the entity is dependent on another entity for a significant volume of 
revenue or financial support, and that dependency is not clearly discernible from 
a separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income or balance sheet, 
the following information must be disclosed: 

Department of Education and Early Childhood Development 38,624 33,774

38,624 33,774

Department of Education and Early Childhood Development

The Institute has an economic dependency on funding for recurrent and specific funding of education and capital 
programs.

Note 27 - Institute details

The registered office of the Institute is:

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE
Fryers Street, Shepparton, Victoria, Australia 3630

The principal place of business is:

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE  
Fryers Street, Shepparton, Victoria, Australia 3630  
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Disclosure Index

Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

REPORT OF OPERATIONS

Charter and purpose

1 FRD 22G Manner of establishment and the relevant Minister 4

2 FRD 22G Purpose, functions, powers and duties linked to a summary of activities, programs and 
achievements

4-15

3 FRD 22G Nature and range of services provided including communities served 4-14

Management and structure

4 FRD 22G Organisational structure and chart, including responsibilities 11

5 FRD 22G Names of Board members 7-10

Financial and other information

6 FRD 03A Accounting for Dividends N/A

7 FRD 07A Early adoption of authoritative accounting pronouncements 50-52

8 FRD 10 Disclosure Index 86-89

9 FRD 17B Long Service leave wage and annual leave for employees 48-49

10 FRD 20A Accounting for State motor vehicle lease arrangements prior to 1 Feb 2004 N/A

11 FRD 22G Operational and budgetary objectives, performance against objectives and achievements 12, 19-21, 
22-25

12 FRD 22G Occupational health and safety statement including performance indicators, 
performance against those indicators. Reporting must be on items listed at (a) to (e) in 
the FRD. 

27

13 FRD 22G Workforce data for current and previous reporting period including a statement on 
employment and conduct principles and that employees have been correctly classified in 
the workforce data collections

26, 28

14 FRD 22G Summary of the financial results for the year including previous 4 year comparisons 12

15 FRD 22G Significant changes in financial position 12

16 FRD 22G Key initiatives and projects, including significant changes in key initiatives and projects 
from previous years and expectations for the future

13-15

17 FRD 22G Post-balance sheet date events likely to significantly affect subsequent reporting periods 84

18 FRD 22G Summary of application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 22

19 FRD 22G Discussion and analysis of operating results and financial results 20-21

20 FRD 22G Significant factors affecting performance 12

21 FRD 22G Where a TAFE has a workforce inclusion policy, a measurable target and report on the 
progress towards the target should be included

N/A

22 FRD 22G Schedule of any government advertising campaign in excess of $100,000 or greater 
(exclusive of GST) include list from (a) – (d)  in the FRD

23

23 FRD 22G Statement of compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 

1993

23
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Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

24 FRD 22G Statement, where applicable, on the implementation and compliance with the National 
Competition Policy

23

25 FRD 22G Summary of application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 23

26 FRD 22G and 
FRD 24C

Summary of Environmental Performance including a report on office based 
environmental impacts

29-30

27 FRD 22G Consultants:
Report of Operations must include a statement disclosing each of the following
1. Total number of consultancies over $10,000
2. Location (eg website)  of where details of these consultancies over $10,000 have 

been made publicly available  
3. Total number of consultancies individually valued at less than $10,000 and the total 

expenditure for the reporting period 

AND publication on TAFE institute website required, for each consultancy more than 
$10,000, of a schedule listing:

• Consultant engaged 
• Brief summary of project
• Total project fees approved
• Expenditure for reporting period
• Any future expenditure committed to the consultant for the project

25

28 FRD 22G Statement, to the extent applicable, on the application and operation of the Carers 

Recognition Act 2012 (Carers Act), and the actions that were taken during the year to 
comply with the Carers Act

27

29 FRD 22G List of other information available on request from the Accountable Officer, and which 
must be retained by the Accountable Officer (refer to list at (a) – (l)  in the FRD)

22-23

30 FRD 25B Victorian Industry Participation Policy Disclosures N/A

31 FRD 26A Accounting for VicFleet motor vehicle lease arrangements on or after 1 February 2004 N/A

32 FRD 29 Workforce Data Disclosures on the public service employee workforce 26

33 SD 4.5.5 (a) Provide an attestation that risk identification and management is consistent with AS/NZS 
ISO31000:2009 or equivalent

24

34 SD 4.2 (g) Qualitative and Quantitative information to be included in Report of Operations, and 
provide general information about the entity and its activities, together with highlights 
and future initiatives

4-15

35 SD 4.2 (h) The Report must be prepared in accordance with the relevant Financial Reporting 
Directions

24, 35

36 SD 4.2 (j) The Report of Operations must be signed and dated by a member of the Responsible 
Body

5, 35

37 CG 10 (clause 27) Major Commercial Activities 24

38 CG 12 (clause 33) Controlled Entities 24
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Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Financial statements required under part 7 of the financial management act 1994

39 SD 4.2 (a) The financial statements must be prepared in accordance with:

• Australian accounting standards (AAS and AASB standards) and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements (including urgent issues group consensus 
views);

• Financial Reporting

• business rules.

35 
 

35

35

40 SD 4.2 (b) The financial statements are to comprise the following:

• income statement;

• balance sheet;

• statement of recognised income and expense;

• cash flows statement; and

• notes to the financial statements.

36

37

53-57

39

40-85

Other requirements under standing direction 4.2 / Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA)

41 SD 4.2 (c) and 
FMA s 49

The financial statements must where applicable be signed and dated by the Accountable 
Officer, CFAO and a member of the Responsible Body, stating whether, in their opinion:

• the financial statements present fairly the financial transactions during the 
reporting period and the financial position at the end of the period;

• the financial statements are prepared in accordance with this direction and 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions; and 

• the financial statements comply with applicable Australian accounting standards 
(AAS and AASB standards) and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements (including urgent issues group consensus views). 

 
 

35 

35 

35

42 SD 4.2 (d) Rounding of amounts. 50

43 SD 4.2 (e) Review and recommendation by Audit Committee or responsible body prior to 
finalisation and submission

35

Other requirements as per financial reporting directions in notes to the financial statements

44 FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia payments 84

45 FRD 21B Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officer and Other Personnel (Contractors 
with significant management responsibilities) in the Financial Report

80-83

46 FRD 102 Inventories 37, 46, 59

47 FRD 103F Non-financial physical assets 37, 42-43, 
46-48, 57, 
60-64, 

48 FRD 104 Foreign currency 50, 72, 76

49 FRD 105A Borrowing costs 43

50 FRD 106 Impairment of assets 43-44, 57, 
64, 68

51 FRD 107A Investment properties 36, 47, 54, 
63, 68

52 FRD 109 Intangible assets 36, 43, 47-
48, 64, 68
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Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

53 FRD 110 Cash flow statements 39, 68

54 FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations 42, 71

55 FRD 113A Investment in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates N/A

56 FRD 114A Financial instruments – general government entities and public non-financial
corporations

44-45, 
72-79

57 FRD 119A Transfers through contributed capital 38, 49

58 FRD 120I Accounting and reporting pronouncements applicable to the reporting period 50-52

Compliance with other legislation and subordinate instruments

59 Legislation The TAFE institute Annual Report must contain a statement that it complies with all 
relevant legislation and subordinate instruments, including, but not limited to, the 
following:

• Education and Training Reform Act 2006 (ETRA)

• TAFE institute constitution

• Directions of the Minister for Training and Skills (and predecessors)

• TAFE institute Commercial Guidelines

• TAFE institute Strategic Planning Guidelines

• Public Administration Act 2004

• Financial Management Act 1994

• Freedom of Information Act 1982

• Building Act 1983

• Protected Disclosure Act 2012

• Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

22

60 ETRA s3.2.8 Statement about compulsory non-academic fees, subscriptions and charges payable in 

2015

24

61 Policy Statement that the TAFE institute complies with the Victorian Public Sector Travel 

Principles

24

62 Key Performance 

Indicators

Institutes to report against:

• KPIs set out in the annual Statement of Corporate Intent; and

• Employment costs as a proportion of training revenue;

• Training revenue per teaching FTE;

• Operating margin percentage;

• Training Revenue diversity.

20-21

Overseas operations of Victorian TAFE Institutes

63 PAEC and

VAGO

(June 2003 

Special Review 

item 3.110)

• Financial and other information on initiatives taken or strategies relating to the 

institute’s overseas operations

• Nature of strategic and operational risks for overseas operations

• Strategies established to manage such risks of overseas operations

• Performance measures and targets formulated for overseas operations

• The extent to which expected outcomes for overseas operations have been 

achieved.

N/A



90    |    GOTAFE 2015 ANNUAL REPORT



gotafe.vic.edu.au

1300 GOTAFE (468 233)

GOTAFE is the trading name of Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE (RTO 3094)
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